Public Document Pack

Cabinet
Title

Agenda

Date

Tuesday 29 June 2021
**Please note the change in date for this meeting and
that it will be held in person. The current coronavirus
regulations and guidance for ensuring the health and
safety is maintained for all persons present will apply**

Time

6.00 pm

Venue

Conference Chamber
West Suffolk House
Western Way
Bury St Edmunds

Membership

Leader
Deputy Leader
Councillor
Sarah Broughton
Carol Bull
Andy Drummond
Robert Everitt
Susan Glossop
John Griffiths
Sara Mildmay-White
Joanna Rayner
David Roach
Peter Stevens

John Griffiths
Sara Mildmay-White
Portfolio
Resources and Performance
Governance
Regulatory
Families and Communities
Growth
Leader
Housing
Leisure, Culture and Community Hubs
Local Plan Development and Delivery
Operations

Interests –
declaration and
restriction on
participation

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Quorum

Four Members

Committee
administrator

Claire Skoyles
Democratic Services Officer
Telephone 01284 757176 / 07776 254986
Email claire.skoyles@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Public information
Venue
Contact
information

Conference Chamber, West Suffolk House, Western Way,
Bury St Edmunds IP33 3YU
Telephone: 01284 757176 / 07776 254986
Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Website: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk

Access to
agenda and
reports before
the meeting

The agenda and reports will be available to view at least five
clear days before the meeting on our website.

Attendance at
meetings

This meeting is being held in person in order to comply with the
Local Government Act 1972. At the time of producing this
agenda, measures need to be applied to ensure the health and
safety for all persons present is maintained. Ordinarily, West
Suffolk Council encourages members of the public to attend its
meetings but on this occasion, to comply with guidance, the
public should only attend if it is necessary for them to do so.
We will also be required to restrict the number of members of
the public able to attend in accordance with the room capacity.
If you consider it is necessary for you to attend, please let
Democratic Services know in advance of the meeting so they
can endeavour to accommodate you and advise you of the
necessary health and safety precautions.

Public
participation

Members of the public who live or work in the district are
invited to put one question or statement of not more than three
minutes duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of
the agenda only. If a question is asked and answered within
three minutes, the person who asked the question may ask a
supplementary question that arises from the reply.

A link to the meeting livestream broadcast, and guidance on
how members of the public can access the meeting broadcast
will also be made available on the Council’s website when the
agenda is published.

The Constitution allows that a person who wishes to speak must
register at least 15 minutes before the time the meeting is
scheduled to start. However, due to the need to comply with
current coronavirus regulations and guidance, necessary health
and safety precautions taken will apply to members of the
public registered to speak. We would therefore strongly
urge anyone who wishes to register to speak to notify
Democratic Services by 9am on the day of the meeting so
that advice can be given on the arrangements in place.
There is an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking,
which may be extended at the Chair’s discretion.

Pages
Accessibility

If you have any difficulties in accessing the meeting, the
agenda and accompanying reports, including for reasons of a
disability or a protected characteristic, please contact
Democratic Services at the earliest opportunity using the
contact details provided above in order that we may assist you.

Recording of
meetings

The Council may record this meeting and permits members of
the public and media to record or broadcast it as well (when the
media and public are not lawfully excluded).
Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to
being filmed should advise the Committee Administrator who
will instruct that they are not included in the filming.

Personal
information

Any personal information processed by West Suffolk Council
arising from a request to speak at a public meeting under the
Localism Act 2011, will be protected in accordance with the
Data Protection Act 2018. For more information on how we do
this and your rights in regards to your personal information and
how to access it, visit our website:
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/
howweuseinformation.cfm or call Customer Services: 01284
763233 and ask to speak to the Information Governance
Officer.

Pages

Agenda
Procedural matters
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2021
(copy attached).
To receive the notes of the non-decision making virtual meeting
held on 25 May 2021 (copy attached).

3.

Declarations of interest
Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
pecuniary or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda, no later than when that item
is reached and, when appropriate, to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on the item.

Part 1 - public
4.

Open forum
At each Cabinet meeting, up to 15 minutes shall be allocated for
questions or statements from and discussion with, non-Cabinet
members. Members wishing to attend or speak during this
session are encouraged to give notice in advance, particularly
given the need to comply with current coronavirus regulations
and guidance. Necessary health and safety precautions taken will
apply to all in attendance and we would therefore strongly urge
non-Cabinet members who wish to attend or speak to notify
Democratic Services by 9am on the day of the meeting so
that advice can be given on the arrangements in place.
Who speaks and for how long will be at the complete discretion of
the person presiding.

5.

Public participation
Members of the public who live or work in the district are invited
to put one question or statement of not more than three minutes
duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of the agenda
only. If a question is asked and answered within three minutes,
the person who asked the question may ask a supplementary
question that arises from the reply.
The Constitution allows that a person who wishes to speak must
register at least 15 minutes before the time the meeting is

1 - 20

Pages
scheduled to start. However, due to the need to comply with
current coronavirus regulations and guidance, necessary health
and safety precautions taken will apply to members of the public
registered to speak. We would therefore strongly urge anyone
who wishes to register to speak to notify Democratic Services by
9am on the day of the meeting so that advice can be given on
the arrangements in place.
There is an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking,
which may be extended at the Chair’s discretion.
6.

Report of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee:
27 May 2021

21 - 28

Report number:
CAB/WS/21/024
Chair of the Committee: Councillor Ian Houlder
Portfolio holder: Councillor Sarah Broughton
Lead officer: Christine Brain
7.

Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 10 June
2021

29 - 36

Report number:
CAB/WS/21/025
Chair of the Committee: Councillor Ian Shipp
Lead officer: Christine Brain

Non key decisions
8.

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices

37 - 76

Report number:
CAB/WS/21/026
Portfolio holder: Councillor Robert Everitt
Lead officer: Davina Howes
9.

Decisions Plan: 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2021
To consider the most recently published version of the Cabinet’s
Decisions Plan
Report number:
CAB/WS/21/027
Portfolio holder: Councillor John Griffiths
Lead officer: Ian Gallin

Part 2 – exempt
None

77 - 96

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

Cabinet
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held virtually via Microsoft Teamslive
remote meeting platform on Tuesday 9 February 2021 at 6.00 pm
Present

Councillors
Chair John Griffiths (Leader of the Council)
Vice Chair Sara Mildmay-White (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Sarah Broughton
Carol Bull
Andy Drummond
Robert Everitt

Susan Glossop
David Roach
Peter Stevens

By invitation
Ian Houlder

(Chair of the Performance and Audit
Scrutiny Committee)

Ian Shipp

(Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee)

Jim Thorndyke

(Chair of the Grant Working Party)

In attendance
Brian Harvey
Marion Rushbrook

(observer)
(observer)

211. Welcome and meeting facilitation
The Chair formally opened the meeting and welcomed all persons present,
including those that were viewing the meeting externally via the live
broadcast.
Leah Mickleborough, Service Manager (Democratic Services), was acting as
facilitator for the meeting where support was felt necessary and upon being
invited to do so, assisted the Chair in detailing the housekeeping matters and
guidance as to how the meeting would operate within the virtual setting.

212. Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Joanna Rayner.

Page 1

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

213. Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 8 December 2020 were confirmed as a
correct record.

214. Declarations of interest
Members’ declarations of interest are recorded under the item to which the
declaration relates.

215. Open forum
No non-Cabinet members in attendance wished to speak under this item.
(Councillor Marion Rushbrook joined the meeting during the consideration of
this item.)

216. Public participation
No members of the public in attendance had registered to speak.

217. Report of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint

Committee: 8 December 2020 (Report number: CAB/WS/21/002)
The Cabinet received and noted this report, which informed members of the
following substantive items discussed by the Anglia Revenues and Benefits
Partnership Joint Committee at its meeting held on 8 December 2020:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Performance and Service Updates;
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) Financial Performance 2020 to
2021;
ARP Joint Committee Partnership Budget;
Anglia Revenues Partnership Service Delivery Plan and Risk Register;
Welfare Reform Update; and
Forthcoming Issues.

Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance,
drew relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet, including placing her thanks
on record for the additional work ARP had undertaken in supporting residents
since the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic.

218. Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 14 January 2021
(Report number: CAB/WS/21/003)

The Cabinet received and noted this report, which informed members of the
following substantive items discussed by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee at its meeting held on 14 January 2021:
1.
2.

Public Space Protection Orders (PSPO): West Suffolk; and
Work programme update 2021 and suggestions for scrutiny.

Councillor Ian Shipp, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee drew
relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet, including that together with

Page 2

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

making comments on suggested variations to existing PSPOs and proposals
for moving forward with two variations, the Committee had agreed to
establish a small working party to undertake a scrutiny review of the Council’s
website with particular emphasis on customer access.
Councillor Everitt, Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities, explained
that stakeholder and public consultation was now being undertaken on the
proposed variations to existing PSPOs in Bury St Edmunds and Haverhill, as
outlined in 2.1.3 of the report, and having analysed the outcomes from the
consultation, a final decision would be sought from Cabinet on whether to
make the variations on 16 March 2021.

219. Report of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: 28 January
2021 (Report number: CAB/WS/21/004)

The Cabinet received and noted this report, which informed members of the
following substantive items discussed by the Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee at its meeting held on 28 January 2021:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Ernst and Young – Annual Audit Letter 2019 to 2020;
2020 to 2021 Performance Report (Quarter 3);
Delivering a Sustainable Medium Term Budget;
Financial Resilience (December 2020);
Financial Resilience – Strategy Statement 2021 to 2022 and Treasury
Management Code of Practice; and
Work Programme Update 2021.

Councillor Ian Houlder, Chair of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee (PASC) drew relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet, including
that separate reports were contained on the agenda for items 3, 4. and 5.
above.
Councillor Sara Mildmay-White, Portfolio Holder for Housing, provided an
explanation in respect of the point made under paragraph 2.2.7 of the report
where a discussion had been held at the PASC meeting on whether the
temporary housing units in Olding Road, Bury St Edmunds were still being
used. Councillor Mildmay-White stated that 14 units were currently occupied
and were vital to support those in need, particularly during the difficult winter
months. Work was being undertaken with different housing providers to bring
forward more accommodation options.

220. Recommendation of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee:
28 January 2021: Delivering a Sustainable Medium-Term Budget
(Report number: CAB/WS/21/005)

The Cabinet considered this report, which was recommending to Council, the
approval of proposals for inclusion in the medium-term financial plans.
In July 2020, Cabinet had agreed proposed next steps and principles for
future financial planning across the medium term (Report number:
CAB/WS/20/043). The approach was designed to enable the Council to
respond effectively to changing circumstances while maintaining a mediumterm focus on the Council’s financial sustainability.

Page 3

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

On 19 November 2020, the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
(PASC) supported the key budget assumptions underpinning the 2021 to
2022 and medium-term budgets for West Suffolk Council, which were
subsequently approved by Cabinet and Council in December 2020.
Report number: PAS/WS/21/003 presented to the Committee on 28 January
2021 provided an update on those key budget assumptions as a result of both
the provisional settlement announced on 25 November 2020 and the detailed
budget process undertaken by service areas supported by their finance
business partners during November and December 2020.
The report also set out the scale of the financial challenge for West Suffolk
Council for 2021 to 2022 and the medium-term, and the plans to address
those financial challenges in enabling the Council to meet its statutory
responsibility to set a balanced budget for the forthcoming year.
The proposals were set out in Section 2 and Appendix B: Table 1 of Report
Number: PAS/WS/21/003 (and reproduced in the Cabinet report) had been
incorporated into the budget setting process, the composite report for which
was to be considered by Cabinet later in the meeting under agenda item 12,
for referral to Council on 23 February 2021. Should Cabinet therefore not
endorse any of the proposals endorsed by PASC, or suggest alternatives, this
would need to be reflected in the subsequent budget setting documentation
and recommendations.
Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance,
drew relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet, including thanking the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee for their role in helping to shape
the budget for 2021 to 2022 and beyond.
Cabinet demonstrated its support for the approach to the Council’s future
financial planning previously agreed in July 2020 and considered the
proposals outlined in the report pragmatically underpinned this approach and
would contribute to the delivery of a sustainable medium-term budget.
Recommended to Council, as part of the budget setting process
(23 February 2021):
That the proposals as detailed in Section 2 and Table 1 at Appendix B
of Report number: PAS/WS/21/003, be included in the medium-term
financial plans.

221. Recommendation of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee:
28 January 2021: Financial Resilience (December 2020) (Report
number: CAB/WS/21/006)

The Cabinet considered this report, which was recommending to Council, the
approval of the Financial Resilience Report for the third quarter of the 2020 to
2021 financial year.

Page 4

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance,
drew relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet, including that the total
amount invested at 1 April 2020 was £29,900,000 and at 31 December 2020,
£38,900,000.
The 2020 to 2021 Annual Treasury Management and Investment Strategy set
out the Council’s projections for the current financial year. The budget for
investment income in 2020 to 2021 was £142,141 which was based on a 0.65
percent target interest rate of return on investments.
As at the end of December 2020, interest earned during the third quarter of
the financial year amounted to £73,250.00 against a profiled budget for the
period of £106,605; a budgetary deficit of £33,355. The budgetary deficit
related to continued low interest rates as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic
which started in mid-March 2020.
The report also included a summary of the borrowing and capital costs affordability; borrowing and income – proportionality; borrowing and asset
yields; borrowing and temporary loans and other market considerations.
As at the end of December 2020 a total of £16.8 million had been borrowed
internally to fund agreed business case investments from available cash
balances. This had meant the Council had not had any additional external
borrowing over the long-term £4 million loan.
Recommended to Council (23 February 2021):
That the Financial Resilience Report (December 2020), as contained in
Report number: FRS/WS/21/001, be approved.

222. Recommendations of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee:
28 January 2021: Financial Resilience - Strategy Statement 2021 to
2022 and Treasury Management Code of Practice (Report number:
CAB/WS/21/007)

The Cabinet considered this report, which was recommending to Council, the
approval of the Financial Resilience - Strategy Statement 2021 to 2022 and
Treasury Management Code of Practice.
Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance,
drew relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet, including that the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management
Code of Practice required that, prior to the start of the financial year the
Council should formally approve a Treasury Management Policy Statement
and Investment Strategy, setting out the Council’s treasury management
policy and strategy for the forthcoming year.
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2021 to 2022 was attached as
Appendix 1 to Report number: FRS/WS/21/002, and the Treasury
Management Code of Practice attached as Appendix 2.

Page 5

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

The report also included additional supporting information on treasury
advisors; borrowing strategy; investment strategy counterparty ratings and
interest rate projections.
Recommended to Council (23 February 2021):
That:
1.

the Financial Resilience Strategy Statement 2021 to 2022 as set
out in Appendix 1 to Report number: FRS/WS/21/002, be
approved; and

2.

the Treasury Management Code of Practice, as set out in
Appendix 2 to Report number: FRS/WS/21/002, be approved.

223. Budget and Council Tax Setting 2021 to 2022 and Medium Term

Financial Strategy 2021 to 2025 (Report number: CAB/WS/21/008)
The Cabinet considered the above report, which presented the proposals for
Budget and Council Tax Setting in 2021 to 2022 and the Medium Term
Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2021 to 2025.
Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance
drew relevant issues to the attention of the Cabinet, including that Report
number: CAB/WS/21/008 provided details of the Council’s proposed revenue
and capital budgets for 2021 to 2022 and in the medium term, and the
Cabinet was required to recommend to Council approval of the 2021 to 2022
budget for the authority, including establishing the level of council tax
required to help fund the Council’s activities over the next year.
As minuted under minute 220. above, the Cabinet supported the key budget
assumptions and proposals for securing a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022,
as previously considered and recommended by the Performance and Audit
Scrutiny Committee and incorporated into Report No: CAB/WS/21/005.
The 2021 to 2022 budget had been prepared in the context of not only the
significant challenges facing local government, such as reductions in national
funding streams, but also a national and worldwide Covid-19 pandemic. Since
the outbreak of Covid-19 in the UK, a number of events had occurred which
had had a significant impact on all local government, including West Suffolk
Council’s financial position in the current financial year and these were
expected to continue into 2021 to 2022. Some of these had been restrictions
imposed by Government which would continue to affect the Council’s
investments, assets and services; and other events had been announcements
of Government financial support.
The Council had played a vital role in responding to the pandemic, in
supporting businesses and communities for example, as well as running
essential services during challenging conditions. Further details were provided
in section 1 of the report, including the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s
financial position which would not be fully known for a significant time.

Page 6

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

The medium term plans had also been prepared in the context of significant
uncertainties around Government policy, examples of which were contained in
section 1.8 of the report, while continuing to acknowledge the economic
impact, challenges, uncertainties and unknowns of the Covid-19 pandemic.
Councils nationally were expected to achieve a balanced budget through
savings and producing local income to fund services due to reduced
Government funding. This year, as a one off to assist with the expected
continued impact of Covid-19, the Council would see an increase in funding
from the Government. However, members noted this would not completely
neutralise the impact expected from the pandemic. Nor would it address the
financial challenges that already existed for local government following a
decade of funding reductions and increases in the demand for services such
as housing and homelessness support.
Despite this and the additional pressures presented by Covid-19, through
prudent budgeting, a review of the Council’s vacant posts, investment as well
as transformation, West Suffolk Council was in a good financial position.
However, while this meant a balanced budget could be set for 2021 to 2022
there were gaps to be met in later years, as set out in the report.
Members considered the report in detail, which included the following issues
for securing a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022 and plans for the medium
term from 2021 to 2025, together with corresponding detailed appendices:
Section 1:
Section

Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section

Background and context, which included reference to the
Council’s ‘Investing in our growth agenda’ and the proposed
transformation of West Suffolk Council
2: Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, which
included reference to the Revenue Support Grant and Rural
Services Delivery Grant; the new Lower Tier Services Grant; the
future of New Homes Bonus; the homelessness and rough
sleeping funding allocation; Covid-19 support funding; funding
from the sales, fees and charges lost income reimbursement
scheme; funding from the National Leisure Recovery Fund;
business rates and business rates reliefs; Collection Fund
deficits; funding for council tax support; and council tax
referendum limits.
3: Council tax for 2021 to 2022
4: Setting the budget – 2021 to 2022 and across the medium term
to 2024 to 2025
5: Capital programme 2020 to 2025 (including disposal of surplus
assets)
6: Minimum revenue provision (MRP)
7: General fund balance
8: Earmarked reserves
9: Strategic priorities and MTFS reserve
10: Adequacy of reserves

Having acknowledged the issues highlighted above, the Cabinet also noted
that currently, council tax made up approximately one fifth of the authority’s
budget (exclusive of housing benefit) and therefore only contributed to a fifth
of service delivery. West Suffolk Council charged around 11 percent of a local

Page 7

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

council tax payer’s bill with the rest comprising precepts from the County
Council, Police and Crime Commissioner as well as the relevant Parish or
Town Council. It was recognised that any increase in council tax would place
an extra burden on tax payers but it meant vital services would be protected.
Covid aside, bridging the gap between income and demand remained the
single biggest challenge facing local government across the country.
To help secure a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022, the Cabinet was
recommending an average £4.99 increase in Band D council tax across both
predecessor areas of St Edmundsbury and Forest Heath. The budget for
council tax for 2021 to 2022 and future years was based on the option to
harmonise the two predecessor areas (St Edmundsbury and Forest Heath)
using the average Band D rate across both predecessor areas, harmonising
the council tax bills by 2022 to 2023, whilst maximising the council tax
receipts to protect services and to support the Council’s investment plans. For
2021 to 2022 this represented an average Band D weekly increase of 22
pence (for the predecessor area of Forest Heath) and three pence (for the
predecessor area of St Edmundsbury).
Therefore, the level of Band D council tax for 2021 to 2022, was
recommended by Cabinet to be set at £185.40 for the predecessor area of St
Edmundsbury and £175.59 for the predecessor area of Forest Heath. Noting
that just over 70 percent of West Suffolk residents were in bands A to C,
these would actually see a lower increase.
Councillor Broughton commended the finance team and the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee, together with staff and other members across the
authority for their work in securing a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022 and
for developing plans in the medium term.
The Cabinet acknowledged that despite the financial challenges being faced
including the added pressures of Covid-19, the Council had made, and were
continuing to make, successful investments in services; growth and health
and well-being projects; together with creating efficiencies, resilience and
ensuring the effective management of resources, all of which and more would
enable West Suffolk Council to secure a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022.
Recommended to Council (23 February 2021):
That:
1.

the revenue and capital budget for 2021 to 2025, plus 2020 to
2021 capital projects that subsequently require to be carried
forward at the year end, attached at Attachment A and as
detailed in Attachment D (Appendices 1-5), Attachment E
(Appendices 1-3) and Attachment F to Report number:
CAB/WS/21/008, be approved.

2.

Having taken into account the conclusions of the Assistant
Director’s (Resources and Performance) report on the adequacy
of reserves and the robustness of budget estimates (Attachment
C) and the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) (Attachment
D), particularly the Scenario Planning and Sensitivity Analysis

Page 8

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

(Attachment D, Appendix 5) and all other information contained
in Report number: CAB/WS/21/008, the Cabinet recommends an
average £4.99 increase in Band D council tax across both
predecessor areas of St Edmundsbury and Forest Heath. This
assumption is based on the option to harmonise the two
predecessor areas by April 2022. The level of Band D council tax
for 2021 to 2022, therefore, be recommended to be set at
£185.40 for the predecessor area of St Edmundsbury and
£175.59 for the predecessor area of Forest Heath. (The level of
council tax beyond 2021 to 2022 will be set in accordance with
the annual budget process for the relevant financial year).
3.

The Assistant Director (Resources and Performance), in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Performance, be authorised to vire funds between existing
Earmarked Reserves (as set out at Attachment D, Appendix 3)
as deemed appropriate throughout the medium term financial
planning period.

4.

Approval be given to the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts
Strategy (as set out in Attachment G).

(Councillor Ian Houlder left the meeting at the conclusion of this item.)

224. Decisions Plan: 1 February 2021 to 31 May 2021
The Cabinet considered this report which was the Cabinet Decisions Plan
covering the period 1 February 2021 to 31 May 2021.
Members took the opportunity to review the intended forthcoming decisions
of the Cabinet; however, no further information or amendments were
requested on this occasion.

225. Recommendations from the Grant Working Party - January 2021:

Community Chest 2021 to 2022 (Report number: CAB/WS/21/010)
(Councillor David Roach declared a local non-pecuniary interest in this item in
his capacity as a Haverhill Town Councillor; the Town Council is the sole
trustee of the Haverhill Community Trust. Councillor Robert Everitt declared a
local non-pecuniary interest in this item as a Suffolk County Council
appointed observer on the board of the Theatre Royal, Bury St Edmunds.
Both members remained in the meeting for the consideration of the item and
voted.)
The Cabinet considered this report, which sought approval for the
recommendations of the Grant Working Party following its consideration of
applications for Community Chest funding in the 2021 to 2022 financial year.
Approval was also sought for a separate core funding grant to the Theatre
Royal in Bury St Edmunds.
Applications for Community Chest funding for 2021 to 2022 closed on 30
October 2020.
A total of 64 applications were received, totalling
£1,661,855.93 from a wide variety of organisations as detailed in Appendix 1

Page 9

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

to the report. Due to one application being withdrawn by the applicant and
one being received after the deadline, 62 applications were subsequently
considered.
The Community Chest budget for 2021 to 2022 was £466,733. £15,000 of the
budget was committed in 2019 for second year funding, as listed in the report
and noted by the Cabinet. The remaining budget available for 2021 to 2022
was therefore £451,733.
There were a number of potential synergies between the applications and as
such they were grouped into various categories as set out in section 2.3 of
the report. Each application was required to be evaluated by the Working
Party in accordance with the eligibility and selection criteria set out in
Appendix 2 of the Grant Working Party report and was considered in turn.
Councillor Robert Everitt, Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities, drew
relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet and commended the Grant
Working Party for their sterling work and thanked officers that had supported
the process. Before making any further comments, with the agreement of the
Chair, he invited Councillor Jim Thorndyke, Chair of the Grant Working Party
to provide a summary of their work.
Councillor Thorndyke informed Cabinet that the Working Party had met on
three occasions in December 2020 and January 2021 to consider each
application and to make appropriate recommendations for Community Chest
funding (if any). The main challenge faced by the Working Party was that
over £1.6 million worth of funding had been applied for and following the
removal from the 2021 to 2022 budget of funding already allocated in 2019
as part of two year funding agreements, a budget of just over of £451,733
remained. A significant amount had been applied for by Citizens Advice West
Suffolk, and therefore following a sizeable allocation to this organisation, the
budget was depleted further for allocation to other applicants.
Councillor Thorndyke explained that the Working Party spent over 12 hours
thoroughly considering each of the 62 applications and extremely difficult
decisions needed to be made. Having ascertained whether an application
firstly met the selection and eligibility criteria, the Working Party felt that the
amount it applied for could not be granted in full in 2021 to 2022. This was
largely due to the limited funds available and maintaining a fair and equitable
approach to all, basing their rationale on the quality of the application and the
amount of funding applied for. The Working Party had also considered that
the proposed reduction would not impact on the organisation’s ability to
deliver the project, having also acknowledged that many could be signposted
to alternative sources of funding to potentially bridge the shortfall should it be
required.
The majority of the proposed allocations were derived from examining the
breakdown of costs of the project contained in the application and proposing
that funding be granted to cover that specific element. In addition, where
applications had been made for two years, these had been recommended to
be limited to one year funding only, for the reasons given in paragraph 3.3 of
the report.

Page 10

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

Councillor Thorndyke thanked the Working Party for its work and also officers
from the Families and Communities and Democratic Services teams. He
particularly commended the depth of knowledge for enabling organisations
that were turned down or had a reduction in Community Chest funding to be
signposted to alternative grant schemes and sources of funding. This provided
some reassurance that projects may still come to fruition.
Councillor Everitt acknowledged the benefits to organisations of the
discretionary Community Chest grant scheme and whilst the Council faced
ongoing financial challenges, he was pleased that the scheme currently
remained available to offer some help to eligible organisations, particularly
with the challenges and uncertainties faced by all during the ongoing Covid19 pandemic. He recognised the extremely difficult task undertaken by the
Working Party and in light of the constraints it had, he felt the Working Party
had made appropriate recommendations that would benefit a range of
laudable projects to be delivered across West Suffolk.
Members supported the recommendations, including the recommendation to
presently continue the core funding grant to the Theatre Royal, Bury St
Edmunds. Having acknowledged that the Council would review the Covid-19
recovery of the theatre and consider how to implement a phased reduction to
their grant over a three to five year period from 2022 onwards in line with the
wider Council’s budget, the Cabinet agreed that funding should continue at
the current level of £61,250 for 2021 to 2022.
Resolved:
That:
1.

2.

the allocation of Community Chest funding for 2021 to 2022, as
previously approved in 2019 to 2020 as part of two-year funding
agreements, be noted, (Report number: CAB/WS/20/007 refers)
namely:
a.

Reach Community Projects, Haverhill (separate project to
that listed in 2a. below) £10,000

b.

Relate, West Suffolk (separate project to that listed in
2m.below) £5,000

The allocation of Community Chest funding for 2021 to 2022, be
approved, namely:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.
i.

Reach Community Projects, Haverhill £10,000
West Suffolk Citizens Advice, West Suffolk
£204,000
Friends of Priory School, Bury St Edmunds
£5,304
Haverhill Community Trust, Haverhill £6,900
Student Life, West Suffolk
£5,000
Greener Growth CIC, West Suffolk
£2,660
Suffolk Accident And Rescue Service (SARS), West Suffolk
£10,000
Risby Village Hall, Risby £1,340
St John’s Church, Beck Row
£2,000

Page 11

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

j.
k.
l.
m.
n.
o.
p.
q.
r.
s.
t.
u.
v.
w.
x.
y.
z.
aa.
bb.
cc.
dd.
ee.
ff.
gg.

Alumah CIO, Brandon
£5,880
Bury Women’s Aid, West Suffolk £6,280
Fresh Start New Beginnings, West Suffolk
£10,000
Relate, West Suffolk
£5,000
Suffolk Cruse Bereavement, West Suffolk
£5,738
Suffolk Rape Crisis, West Suffolk
£5,625
Best Before Project, Bury St Edmunds £8,740
Epic Dads CIC, West Suffolk
£14,500
Homestart in Suffolk, West Suffolk
£7,000
Homestart Mid and West Suffolk – Forest School, West
Suffolk
£9,510
Sharing Parenting – Family Outreach, West Suffolk
£13,000
St Peter’s Church, Brandon
£9,623
Art Branches CIC, West Suffolk £9,600
Headway, West Suffolk £6,240
Millennium Farm Trust, West Suffolk £6,480
St Nicholas Hospice Trust, West Suffolk
£13,158
Suffolk Mind, West Suffolk
£5,360
The Shed, West Row
£1,139
Bury Drop In, Bury St Edmunds £11,996
Gatehouse, Bury St Edmunds
£15,000
Lightwave, Red Lodge and Beck Row £6,000
Our Special Friends, West Suffolk
£10,660
The Voluntary Network, West Suffolk £12,000
West Suffolk Vineyard Church, Bury St Edmunds
£6,000

3.

No Community Chest funding be awarded for two years for the
reasons outlined in paragraph 3.3 of Report number:
CAB/WS/21/010.

4.

No Community Chest funding for 2021 to 2022 be awarded to:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.
i.
j.
k.
l.
m.
n.
o.
p.
q.
r.
s.

Babylon Arts West Suffolk
Bury Cricket Club, Bury St Edmunds
Bury Scout Group, Bury St Edmunds
Haverhill Running Club, Haverhill
Ipswich Town Football Club, Brandon
Kinetic Science, West Suffolk
M&L Arts, West Suffolk
Mildenhall Girl Guides, Mildenhall
Mildenhall Sea Scouts, Mildenhall
Newmarket Swimming Club, Newmarket
St Edmundsbury Sailing and Canoe Club, Lackford Lakes
The Racing Centre, Newmarket
The Suffolk Foundation, West Suffolk
Theatre Royal, Bury St Edmunds (separate project to 5.
below)
Bardwell Allotments, Bardwell
Brandon in Bloom, Brandon
Bury Water Meadows Project, Bury St Edmunds
Pakenham Water Mill, Pakenham
Radio West Suffolk, Bury St Edmunds

Page 12

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

t. SOS Bus, Newmarket
u. West Suffolk Hive, West Suffolk
v. All Saints Church, Newmarket
w. Honington and Sapiston Village Hall
x. Jiggens Memorial Hall and Playing Field, Ixworth
y. Ousden Village Hall, Ousden
z. Stansfield Village Hall, Stansfield
aa.
Homestart Mid and West Suffolk – Home Talk, West
Suffolk
bb.
Sharing Parenting – Mental Health Worker, West Suffolk
cc.
Resume Foundation, Newmarket
5.

The current level of £61,250 core funding grant for the Theatre
Royal, Bury St Edmunds be continued for 2021 to 2022, as set
out in section 4 of Report number: CAB/WS/21/010.

(Councillor Thorndyke left the meeting at the conclusion of this item.)

226. Revenues Collection Performance and Write-Offs (Report number:
CAB/WS/21/011)

The Cabinet considered this report, which provided the collection data in
respect of council tax and National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) and sought
approval for the write-off of the amounts contained in the exempt appendices
attached to the report.
Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance,
drew relevant issues to the attention of the Cabinet, including the current
performance of both council tax and business rates collection, as set out in
Section 2 of the report.
Members noted that reliefs introduced by central Government in response to
the Covid-19 pandemic (many of which provided 100 percent relief for 2020
to 2021) had reduced the amount of debt to be collected and, in turn, had
contributed to a slight improvement on the collection rate to date.
Resolved:
That:
The write-off of the amounts detailed in the exempt appendices to
Report number: CAB/WS/21/011, be approved, as follows:
1.
2.

Exempt Appendix 1: business rates totalling £29,946.61
Exempt Appendix 2: West Suffolk Council sundry debts totalling
£43,656.53

227. Exclusion of press and public
See minute 228. below.

Page 13

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

228. Exempt Appendices: Revenues Collection Performance and Write-Offs
(paragraphs 1 and 2) (Report number: CAB/WS/21/011)

The Cabinet considered the exempt appendices 1 and 2 to this report.
However, no reference was made to specific detail and, therefore, this item
was not held in private session.

229. Conclusion
On conclusion of the meeting, the Chair thanked all present for their
attendance at this virtual meeting. The live broadcast subsequently ended at
this point.
The meeting concluded at 7.03 pm
Signed by:

Chair

Page 14

CAB.WS.09.02.2021

Cabinet
Notes of a non-decision making meeting of the Cabinet held virtually via
Microsoft Teamslive remote meeting platform on Tuesday 25 May 2021 at
6.17 pm
Present

Councillors
Chair John Griffiths (Leader of the Council)
Vice Chair Sara Mildmay-White (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Sarah Broughton
Carol Bull
Robert Everitt
Susan Glossop

Joanna Rayner
David Roach
Peter Stevens

By invitation
Ian Shipp

(Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee)

In attendance
Mike Chester
Birgitte Mager

(Observer)
(Observer)

230. Welcome and meeting facilitation
The Chair apologised for the late start to the meeting, which had been due to
some technical issues.
The Chair then formally opened the meeting and welcomed all persons
present, including those that were viewing the meeting externally via the live
broadcast.
The Chair explained the rationale behind the arrangements for this meeting.
Due to the expiry of special legislation on 7 May 2021, which allowed Council
meetings to be held virtually and despite an unsuccessful High Court
challenge, the law meant that councils now had to ensure that members of
the public could access decision making meetings of Cabinet, in person.
To be able to have meetings in person, consideration also needed to be given
to the Government guidance in relation to the safe use of Council buildings
and the capacity of its venues to host meetings. From 21 June 2021, it was
expected that restrictions on social contact would ease which would help to
mitigate the current challenges.
The Government guidance also suggested that, wherever possible, decisions
should be delegated to individual Councillors and Officers to make. For

Page 15

CAB.WS.25.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

Cabinet decisions, this was possible, as the Leader of the Council could make
decisions, as could the individual Portfolio Holders. However, it was
considered prudent to hold this virtual meeting so that if any Councillors or
members of the public wanted to join the Cabinet to discuss any items on the
agenda, then they had the opportunity to do so.
Also, the Chair explained that there would be no formal vote undertaken on
the items which required decisions to be made, as it was being recommended
for these decisions to be made by either himself as Leader of the Council or
the relevant Portfolio Holder. Therefore, the proposed recommendations
would be agreed on a general consensus basis of the Cabinet.
The Chair then detailed the housekeeping matters and guidance as to how the
meeting would operate.

231. Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Andy Drummond.

232. Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2021 were reviewed and no
amendments were noted. These minutes would be formally confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chair at the next meeting of Cabinet.

233. Declarations of interest
Members’ declarations of interest were recorded under the item to which the
declaration related.

234. Open forum
No non-Cabinet members in attendance wished to speak under this item.

235. Public participation
No members of the public in attendance had registered to speak.

236. Report of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint

Committee: 9 March 2021 (Report number: CAB/WS/21/018)
The Cabinet received and noted this report, which informed Members of the
following substantive items discussed by the Anglia Revenues and Benefits
Partnership Joint Committee at its meeting held on 9 March 2021:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Performance Report
ARP Forecast Financial Performance 2020 to 2021
Performance Management Framework 2021
Welfare Reform Update
Forthcoming Issues
Exempt Item: Risk Based Verification (RBV) Policy Review and Verification
Policy 2021 to 2022
7. Exempt Item: Succession Planning

Page 16

CAB.WS.25.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance,
also drew relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet.

237. Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 18 March 2021
(Report number: CAB/WS/21/019)

The Cabinet received and noted this report, which informed Members of the
following substantive items discussed by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee at its meeting held on 18 March 2021:
1. Exiting the European Union: West Suffolk Council’s preparations and
current status.
2. Update on the Mildenhall Hub.
3. Suffolk County council: Health Scrutiny Committee – 13 January 2021.
4. Work programme update 2021 and suggestion for scrutiny.
Councillor Ian Shipp, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, also
drew relevant issues to the attention of the Cabinet.

238. Western Way Development, Bury St Edmunds (Report Number:
CAB/WS/21/020)

The Cabinet considered this report which was recommending to the Portfolio
Holder for Leisure, Culture and Community Hubs, that a full report for
decision on the delivery of the Western Way Development, Bury St Edmunds,
be referred directly to Council on 22 June 2021.
Councillor Jo Rayner, Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Culture and Community
Hubs, drew relevant issues to the attention of the Cabinet and explained that
The Western Way Development (WWD) in Bury St Edmunds was a major
capital project proposed by the Council and its partners to deliver a national
exemplar mixed-use hub as part of the One Public Estate Programme.
Work had now fully resumed on the project and would shortly be sufficiently
progressed to bring a proposal to Councillors on how Phase One might be
taken forward with other public sector partners. Given the length of time that
had passed since the original decisions had been made, it was considered
appropriate, by the Leader of the Council and the Portfolio Holder to reconfirm its intent to continue with the project before any procurement
started. Depending on the outcome of the current work on the business case,
a new Council decision may be needed.
Work on updating the business case with partners would not be finished
before early June 2021. Therefore, to avoid any further delay to the project,
the Leader of the Council was satisfied that this matter would not require any
Cabinet approval prior to being referred back to Council.
The Portfolio Holder also provided a short presentation to the Cabinet on how
the project was progressing. The information provided to the Cabinet would
also be included within the Council report on 22 June 2021. A full briefing to
support the published Council report would also be offered to all Councillors in
June 2021.

Page 17

CAB.WS.25.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

Recommended to the Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Culture and
Community Hubs:
That a full report for decision on the delivery of the Western Way
Development, Bury St Edmunds, be referred directly to Council on 22
June 2021.
(Councillor Peter Stevens left the meeting at 6.27 pm, during the discussion
on this item)

239. Annual Review and Appointment of the Cabinet's Joint Committee,

Panel and Other Working Groups (Report number: CAB/WS/21/021)
The Cabinet considered this report which was recommending to the Leader of
the Council to appoint to the Cabinet’s Joint Committee/Panel and other
Groups for the year 2021/2022. Upon doing so, the existing Terms of
Reference for each had been reviewed, as set out in the Appendices attached
to this report.
Recommended to the Leader of the Council:
That:
1a.
Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Performance, be re-appointed as the full member representing
West Suffolk Council on the Anglia Revenues and Benefits
Partnership Joint Committee in 2021 to 2022.
1b.

Councillor Sara Mildmay-White, Deputy Leader and Portfolio
Holder for Housing, be re-appointed as a substitute member
representing West Suffolk Council on the Anglia Revenues and
Benefits Partnership Joint Committee in 2021 to 2022.

1c.

On the nomination of the Leader of the Council, the Service
Manager (Democratic Services) may exercise their delegated
authority to appoint appropriate Cabinet membership (full and
substitute members) to the above joint committee during 2021
to 2022, as necessary.

2a.

The Staff Consultative Panel continues to operate in 2021 to
2022 in accordance with the Terms of Reference (ToR) contained
in Appendix A to Report number: CAB/WS/21/021.

2b.

Periodical meetings of the above Panel be scheduled as and
when required but with regard to the discussion outlined in
Section 2.2.2 of Report number: CAB/WS/21/021.

3.

The West Suffolk Grant Working Party continues to operate in
2021 to 2022 in accordance with the Terms of Reference (ToR)
contained in Appendix B to Report number: CAB/WS/21/021.

4.

The West Suffolk Local Plan Working Group continues to operate
in 2021 to 2022 in accordance with the Terms of Reference

Page 18

CAB.WS.25.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

(ToR) contained in Appendix C to Report number:
CAB/WS/21/021.
5.

Should it become necessary and on the nominations of Group
Leaders, the Service Manager (Democratic Services) may
exercise their delegated authority to appoint appropriate
membership (full and substitute members) to the above Panel,
Working Party and Working Group during 2021 to 2022 in
accordance with their Terms of Reference.

6.

Provided that resources are available to support them, informal
task-and-finish working groups or taskforces be established to
consider specific issues as required throughout 2021 to 2022.

240. Decisions Plan: 1 May 2021 to 31 May 2022 (Report number:
CAB/WS/21/022)

The Cabinet considered this report which was the Cabinet Decisions Plan
covering the period 1 May 2021 to 31 May 2022.
Members took the opportunity to review the intended forthcoming decisions
of the Cabinet. However, no further information or amendments were
requested on this occasion.

241. Revenues Collection Performance and Write-Offs (Report number:
CAB/WS/21/023)

The Cabinet considered this report, which provided the collection data in
respect of Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) and which
was recommending to the Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance to
write-off the amounts contained in the exempt Appendices attached to the
report.
Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance,
drew relevant issues to the attention of the Cabinet, including the current
performance of both Council Tax and Business Rates collection, as set out in
Section 2 of the report.
Recommended to the Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Performance:
That the write-off of the amounts detailed in the exempt Appendices to
Report number CAB/WS/21/023, be approved, as follows:
1.
2.

Exempt Appendix 1: Council Tax totalling £22,480.28
Exempt Appendix 2: Business Rates totalling £34,962.30.

242. Exclusion of press and public
See Minute Number 243. below.

Page 19

CAB.WS.25.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

243. Exempt Appendices: Revenues Collection Performance and Write-Offs
(paragraphs 1 and 2) (Report number CAB/WS/21/023)

The Cabinet considered the Exempt Appendices 1 and 2 to this report.
However, no reference was made to specific detail and, therefore, this item
was not held in private session.

244. Conclusion
On conclusion of the meeting, the Chair thanked all present for their
attendance at this virtual meeting. The live broadcast subsequently ended at
this point.
The meeting concluded at 6.39 pm
Signed by:

Chair

Page 20

CAB.WS.25.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

Agenda Item 6

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/024

Report of the Performance
and Audit Scrutiny
Committee: 27 May 2021
Report number:

CAB/WS/21/024

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor Sarah Broughton
Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance
Telephone: 07929 305787
Email: sarah.broughton@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Chair of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee:

Councillor Ian Houlder
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
Telephone: 07597 961069
Email: ian.houlder@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Christine Brain
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)
Telephone: 01638 719729
Email: christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

This item is not required to be included on the
Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All wards

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Report number:
CAB/WS/21/024, being the report of the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee, be
noted.

29 June 2021

Page 21

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/024

1.
1.1

Context to this report
On 27 May 2021, the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee held its
virtual TeamsLive meeting, at which it considered the following items:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Ernst and Young – External Audit Plan and Fees (2020 to 2021)
Internal Audit Annual Audit Report (2020 to 2021)
Outline Internal Audit Plan (2021 to 2022)
2020-2021 Performance Report (Quarter 4)
Health and Safety Summary Report 2020 to 2021
Annual Appointments to the Financial Resilience Sub–Committee and
the Health and Safety Sub-Committee.
7. Work Programme Update
2.

Proposals within this report

2.1

Ernst and Young – External Audit Plan and Fees (2020 to 2021)
(Report number: PAS/WS/21/005)

2.1.1

The Committee received and noted the above report from Ernst and
Young (EY), the Council’s appointed external auditors, who were required
to provide an audit plan, attached at Appendix A, which covered the work
they planned to perform in order to provide the Council with:
-

an opinion on whether the financial statements of the Council gave a
true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 March 2021 and of
the income and expenditure for the year then ended; and

-

a conclusion on the Council’s arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness (value for money).

2.1.2

Mark Hodgson, Associate Partner from EY presented this report, which
summarised EY’s assessment of the key risks which drive the development
of an effective audit for the Council and outlined their planned audit
strategy in response to those risks. Officers would be working with EY
over the coming months to ensure that these risks were managed and
where possible to come to an agreement over their treatment prior to
issuing of the Annual Results Report, and Audit Opinion.

2.1.3

He drew members’ attention to the summary of audit risks set out in the
report. The main change to the value for money conclusion was that EY
would only need to report by exception.

2.1.4

The Committee considered the report and asked questions to which
responses were provided. In particular members sought clarification on
the risks associated with “incorrect capitalisation of revenue expenditure”
set out on page 15 of the report and “omission or understatement of NDR

Page 22

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/024
appeals provisions” on page 16 to which Mark Hodgson provided
responses.
2.2

Internal Audit Annual Audit Report (2020 to 2021) (Report
number: PAS/WS/21/006)

2.2.1

The annual audit opinion attached at Appendix A to the report was split
into four constituent elements of governance; risk; internal control and
financial control with a specific conclusion draw on each, as well as the
direction of travel.

2.2.2

The Council also recognised that fraud, theft and corruption was an everpresent threat to the resources available in the public sector. Appendix B
demonstrated West Suffolk’s progress in developing and maintaining an
anti-fraud and anti-corruption culture and publicised the action taken
where fraud or misconduct had been identified.

2.2.3

Relevant issues were brought to member’s attention. In particular, that
audit opinions given to individual audits were all either good assurance or
reasonable assurance, as set out on pages 65 and 66 of Appendix A.

2.2.4

The Committee considered the report and asked questions to which
responses were provided. In response to a question raised regarding the
reopening of the “high street fund” set out on page 69 of the report, and
whether this was the same as the new “welcome back fund”, officers
explained that they were not the same and that there were a number of
different business funds currently in progress and being discussed with
stakeholders.

2.2.5

The Committee noted the Internal Audit Annual Report 2020 to 2021,
attached at Appendix A and the Annual Fraud Report 2020 to 2021,
attached at Appendix B to Report number: PAS/WS/20/006.

2.3

Outline Internal Audit Plan (2021 to 2022) (Report number:
PAS/WS/21/007)

2.3.1

This report provided details on the proposed 2021 to 2022 Audit Plan.
The proposed Audit Plan, attached at Appendix B to the report was a riskbased plan of work for the internal audit team, which took into account
the need to produce an annual internal audit opinion for the Council which
concludes on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s
framework of governance, risk management and internal control.

2.3.2

It was important that the audit plan was flexible and able to adapt to
changing risks facing the Council, thereby ensuring that audit resources
were used where they would add maximum value. During the year,
specific audits might therefore need to be taken out of the plan or added
in, according to changing circumstances.

Page 23

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/024
2.3.3

The Committee considered the report and in particular discussed Brexit
and whether this had an impact on audits. In response the Service
Manager (Internal Audit) explained that the Council was still working
through the implications of Brexit but did not envisage this would have a
significant impact on the council’s audit work.

2.3.4

The Committee endorsed the Outline Internal Audit Plan for 2021 to
2022 for formal adoption at its meeting on 29 July 2021.

2.4

2020 to 2021 Performance Report – Quarter 4 (Report number:
PAS/WS/21/008)

2.4.1

The Committee received Report number: PAS/WS/21/008, which set out
the impact of Covid-19 and the Quarter 4 performance and financial
outturn summary for the year ending 31 March 2021.

2.4.2

The report set out the outturn position for the year 2020-2021, which had
improved from the previous position reported in Quarter 3. Funding of
additional Covid-19 related costs had been achieved through the work of
the Council, utilising existing budgets, delivery of Covid-19 related
initiatives with existing resources and external grants. This meant the
year end position showed these variances to reduce to an overall impact of
£1,359,000. The deficit would be funded largely from the previously
agreed use of the in-year 2020 to 2021 New Homes Bonus allocation which
was previously allocated to support strategic projects. The net deficit
balance of £159,000 would then be funded from the Council’s general fund
balance as the Council closed the final accounts for 2020 to 2021.

2.4.3

The Council had spent £31.9 million of its capital budget, out of a total of
£83.6 million for the year on Barley Homes and the Mildenhall Hub
projects. The difference was due to the phasing of some of the capital
projects, for example the Western Way Development, which had been
carried forward into 2021 to 2022, and some of the invest for growth funds
which had also been carried forward.

2.4.4

The earmarked reserves position at the end of the year was £37.6 million,
which had improved from where the Council thought it would be by the
end of the year. This was primarily due to the net under-utilisation of
underspends on fleet phasing in terms of what’s spent on vehicle
replacements. As the Council had not borrowed externally in the year this
had meant the council did not have to fund as much as originally expected.

2.4.5

Attached to the Quarter 4 performance report were a number of
appendices which set out the performance and financial outturn for 2020
to 2021, as follows:
-

Appendix A: Performance Indicators – Commentary
Appendix B: Performance Indicators – Growth

Page 24

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/024
-

Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix

C: Performance Indicators – Families and Communities
D: Performance Indicators – Housing
E: Performance Indicators – Day to Day
F: Income and Expenditure Report
G: Capital Programme
H: Earmarked Reserves
I: Strategic Risk Register

2.4.6

Members considered the report and asked questions to which responses
were provided. In particular discussions were held on Barley Homes as set
out in Appendix G (Capital Programme) regarding the revised budget for
the year; the management of property units and whether these could be
managed in-house; and the number of households in bed and breakfast
accommodation. Officers explained they were working with landlords and
the Anglia Revenues Partnership in managing evictions to try and avoid the
use of bed and breakfast accommodation for people coming through the
system.

2.4.7

In response to a question raised regarding whether there were any specific
regulations for people setting up caravan pitches in back gardens, officers
indicated they would raise this matter with the planning and council tax
services for a written response.

2.4.8

At the conclusion of the discussions, the Committee noted the:
-

Impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s current financial year 2020 to
2021.

-

2020 to 2021 Revenue and Capital positions as detailed in the report
and appendices.

2.5

Health and Safety Summary Report 2020 to 2021 (Report number:
PAS/WS/21/009)

2.5.1

The Committee received and noted the above report which summarised
the work carried out by the Health and Safety Sub-Committee during 2020
to 2021.

2.5.2

The Health and Safety summary report attached at Appendix A was
produced to identify and document West Suffolk Council’s health and
safety performance and work carried out during the year to ensure legal
compliance.

2.5.3

The Committee considered the report and asked questions. In particular
discussions were held on whether incidents and accidents had increased
during 2020 to 2021 due to Covid-19. In response the Service Manager
(Health and Safety) explained that Covid-19 and not had an effect on the

Page 25

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/024
reporting of incidents and accidents, which had stayed the same when
compared to previous reporting periods.
2.6

Annual Appointments to the Financial Resilience Sub-Committee
and the Health and Safety Sub-Committee (Report number:
PAS/WS/21/010)

2.6.1

The Committee received the above report, which sought appointments to
the Financial Resilience Sub-Committee and the Health and Safety SubCommittee. The Committee was asked to:

2.6.2

1.

recommend three members and one substitute member from the
membership of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee to sit
on the Financial Resilience Sub-Committee for the remainder of
2021 to 2022; and

2.

recommend six members and two substitute members from the
membership of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee to sit
on the Health and Safety Sub-Committee for the remainder of 2021
to 2022.

In considering the Conservative nominations for the Health and Safety
Sub-Committee, the Monitoring Officer agreed to seek members and
substitute members, following the meeting, with the Group Leader, which
would then be brought back to the Committee on 29 July 2021 for formal
approval. At the conclusion of the discussions the following nominations
were put forward as follows:
Financial Resilience Sub-Committee
-

Councillors Ian Houlder and Elaine McManus (Conservative Group)
wished to continue to serve as full members on the Sub-Committee.

-

Councillor Victor Lukaniuk (The Independent Group) wished to
continue to serve as a full member on the Sub-Committee.

-

Councillor Robert Nobbs (Conservative Group) wished to continue to
serve as the substitute on the Sub-Committee.

Health and Safety Sub-Committee
-

Councillor Cliff Waterman (Labour Group) wished to continue to
serve as a full member on the Sub-Committee

-

The Monitoring Officer agreed to speak with the Leader of the
Independent Group to see if Councillor John Smith wished to
continue as a full member.

-

Councillor Robert Nobbs (Conservative Group) wished to continue as
a full member on the Sub-Committee. Councillor Elaine McManus

Page 26

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/024
wished to sit as a full member on the Sub-Committee to replace
Councillor Karen Richardson. The Monitoring Officer agreed to seek
two further full members, following the meeting with the Group
Leader.
-

The Monitoring Officer agreed to seek one substitute (Conservative
Group) and one substitute (Independent Group) following the
meeting with the relevant Group Leaders.

2.7

Work programme update 2021 (Report number: PAS/WS/21/011)

2.7.1

The Committee received Report number: PAS/WS/21/011, which provided
information on the current status of its forward work programme for 2021.

2.7.2

The Committee noted the contents of its forward work programme for
2021.

3.
3.1
4.
4.1
5.
5.1
6.
6.1

Alternative options that have been considered
Please see background papers.

Consultation and engagement undertaken
Please see background papers.

Risks associated with the proposals
Please see background papers.

Implications arising from the proposals
Financial:
Please see background papers.

6.2

Equalities:
Please see background papers.

7.
7.1

Appendices referenced in this report
Please see background papers.

Page 27

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/024

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

Report number: PAS/WS/21/005 and Appendix A to the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee: Ernst and Young – Presentation of External Plan
and Fees (2020-2021)

8.2

Report number: PAS/WS/21/006 and Appendix A and B to the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: Internal Audit Annual Report
(2020-2021)

8.3

Report number: PAS/WS/21/007 and Appendix A and B to the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: Outline Internal Audit Plan
(2021-2022)

8.4

Report number: PAS/WS/21/008 and Appendices A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H and
I to the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: 2020-2021
Performance Report – Quarter 4

8.5

Report number: PAS/WS/21/009 and Appendix A to the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee: Health and Safety Summary Report 20202021

8.6

Report number PAS/WS/21/010 and Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 to the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: Annual Appointments to the
Financial Resilience Sub-Committee and the Health and Safety SubCommittee

8.7

Report number: PAS/WS/21/011 and Appendix 1 to the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee: Work programme update

Page 28

Agenda Item 7

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/025

Report of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee:
10 June 2021
Report number:

CAB/WS/21/025

Report to and date:

Cabinet

29 June 2021

Chair of the Overview Councillor Ian Shipp
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
and Scrutiny
Telephone: 07368 134769
Committee:
Email: ian.shipp@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Lead officer:

Christine Brain
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)
Telephone: 01638 719729
Email: christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

This item is not required to be included on the
Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All wards

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Report number:
CAB/WS/21/025, being the report of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee, be noted.

Page 29

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/025

1.
1.1

Context to this report
On 10 June 2021, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held its virtual
MS TeamsLive meeting, at which it considered the following items:
1.

Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership Monitoring Report
(April 2020 to March 2021)
Collection of Council Tax and Business Rates
Website Working Party Findings
Review of Council Markets – Terms of Reference
Cabinet Decisions Plan: 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2022
Work programmes update and Councillor Call for Action
Submission

2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

2.

Proposals within this report

2.1

Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership Monitoring
Report (April 2020 to March 2021) (Report number:
OAS/WS/21/006)

2.1.1

It was the duty of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as the Council’s
Crime and Disorder Committee designated under the Police and Justice
Act 2006, to scrutinise the work of the Partnership.

2.1.2

The Committee received and noted the report, which was presented to
the Committee by the Chair of the Western Suffolk Community Safety
Partnership (WSCSP), Councillor Joanna Spicer, and Councillor Robert
Everitt, Cabinet Member for Families and Communities.

2.1.3

Over the past year the WSCSP continued to meet and discharge its
statutory duties by carrying out an assessment of crime and disorder in
the area, delivering the three-year plan and action plan to reflect the
priorities of the partnership, and carrying out Domestic Homicide
Reviews. Attached at Appendix A to the report, was the WSCSP Plan
2019-2022, which was required to reflect the Suffolk Police and Crime
Plan published by the Police and Crime Commissioner.

2.1.4

Based on the outcomes of partnership discussions, the following priorities
remained the focus of the WSCSP:
-

2.1.5

County Lines.
Violence against women and girls (including men and boys).
Hate Crime.
Prevent.
Domestic homicide reviews.

The Committee considered the report in detail and asked a number of
questions to which comprehensive responses were provided by Councillor

Page 30

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/025
Spicer and officers. Discussions were held on what type of programmes
did the Suffolk Rape Crisis offer for male victims; the unusual acronym
used to describe “violence against women and girls including men and
boys” and domestic abuse which was not just about violence.
2.1.6

Discussions were also held on Public Space Protection Orders, the
different types of Orders, how they were enforced and how often they
were reviewed; the need for more public engagement around community
safety from all the agencies involved; how the WSCSP supported county
lines and alcohol and drug user initatives, and whether there were any
statistics to show how initiatives had performed over the years, to which
comprehensive responses were provided.

2.2

Collection of Council Tax and Business Rates (Report number:
OAS/WS/21/007)

2.2.1

The Committee received and noted the above report which set out the
approach to council tax and business rates debt recovery. The report
also informed the Committee on how the Covid-19 pandemic had
impacted on business rates and council tax recovery, and how the
recovery approaches have had to be flexed accordingly during the last
year and into 2021 to support residents and businesses.

2.2.2

The report included information on its debt recovery approach; Covid-19
impact on recovery processes and collection; re-starting recovery;
comparison of arrears and challenges for 2021, which was accompanied
by a PowerPoint presentation.

2.2.3

Discussions were held on whether there was likely to be any government
intervention and support when furlough and self-employed income
support ended in September 2021 to help with genuine hardship which
might occur and the impact of income to the council; and how well West
Suffolk Council compared with other areas for debt collection due to
Covid-19, to which comprehensive responses were provided.

2.3

Website Working Party Findings (Report number:
OAS/WS/21/008)

2.3.1

The Committee received the above report which set out the findings from
the West Suffolk Website Working Party. The Working Party was set up
following a work programme suggestion submitted by Councillor Terry
Clements.

2.3.2

The Working Party comprised four councillors and met on three occasions
to understand data on how the website was used; discuss their
experience of using the website and agree an action plan. Between
meetings members of the Working Party tested the website, including
attempting to undertake the 10 most commonly used website functions

Page 31

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/025
and testing “Find My Nearest”. At its last meeting the Working Party
considered progress made on an Action Plan, which was developed during
its second meeting (Appendix 2).
2.3.3

The Working Party had identified 15 improvements (Appendix 2) as a
result of its work, and subject to endorsement by the Committee, these
were with officers to progress. Some of the actions had already been
completed or were in progress.

2.3.4

The Committee discussed the report and asked questions to which
responses were provided. In particular, whether there was a requirement
in law to have pages on the website in different languages and whether
the Council’s website had been created in-house.

2.3.5

Discussions were also held on the planning portal, links to other
organisations websites and search words (terminology used), to which
responses were provided.

2.3.6

The Committee endorsed the action plan developed by the Website
Working Party attached at Appendix 2 to the report, to be implemented
with the support of the Cabinet Member for Families and Communities.

2.3.7

Councillor Robert Everitt, Cabinet Member for Families and Communities
wished to thank Councillor Terry Clements and the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee for allowing the Working Party to carry out this piece of work
and to officers for guiding the Working Party through the process.

2.4

Review of Council Markets – Terms of Reference (Report number:
OAS/WS/21/009)

2.4.1

In November 2020, the Committee reviewed a work programme
suggestion form presented by the Chair of the Committee, encouraging a
review of the West Suffolk Markets. The purpose of the review was to
look at the strategic role of West Suffolk Council, aligning the operation of
the markets to the Council’s strategic vision and supporting their
development to meet the corporate priorities.

2.4.2

The Group would be supported to find out more about the current market
trading environment; engagement would be held with key stakeholders
and research undertaken, with a view to then forming a view on the
strategic direction of the markets.

2.4.3

The Chair explained that it was important that the Working Group looked
at the markets strategically. The proposed five members would need to
be committed to the review, and it was about looking at how the Council
could sustain markets for the future.

Page 32

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/025
2.4.4

The Committee discussed the report and asked questions to which
responses were provided. In particular it was suggested increasing the
proposed membership on the Working Group from five to six, so all of the
market towns were covered.

2.4.5

At the conclusion of the discussions, the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee endorsed the terms of reference as attached at Appendix 1,
subject to increasing the membership to six members, and nominated the
following members to sit on the Markets Review Group:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Ian Shipp (Mildenhall)
John Burns (Haverhill)
Marion Rushbrook (Smaller Markets/Clare)
Patrick Chung (Bury St Edmunds)

It was also advised that following the meeting, the Chair and officers
would speak with Councillor Anderson to see if he wished to be on the
Working Group for Newmarket (and if not, seek an alternative member
representative for Newmarket), as well as Brandon members to seek a
nomination.
2.5

Cabinet Decisions Plan: 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2022 (Report
number: OAS/WS/21/010)

2.5.1

The Committee reviewed and noted the latest version of the Cabinet
Decisions Plan, covering the period 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2022.

2.5.2

A question was raised relating to the “Public Access to West Suffolk
Council Offices” report being considered by Cabinet on 29 June 2021.
The Committee asked how the proposals for staff working would interact
with public access and staff being in the office to see people, and whether
this was covered in the proposed report to Cabinet. Officers explained
that the Council was working through the Government’s rules and
regulations and was looking at various options for the different offices;
how people access our services and taking lessons learnt from the past
year, which would tie in with the decision made about staff coming back
into the offices.

2.6

Work programme update and Councillor Call for Action
Submission (Report number: OAS/WS/21/011)

2.6.1

The Committee received Report number OAS/WS/21/011, which updated
Members on the current status of its rolling work programme of items,
and items currently agreed but had yet to be programmed for 2021 as
attached at Appendix 1. It also set out information seeking at least one
new member from the Committee to replace Councillor Ingwall-King on
the Modern-Day Slavery Working Group, and a Councillor Call for Action
(CCfA) form submitted by Councillor Trevor Beckwith on the “Impact of

Page 33

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/025
the Eastern Relief Road and A14 Junction 45 on the Moreton Hall
Residential Area”.
2.6.2

The Committee discussed the CCfA and was supportive of including the
CCfA into its forward work programme as the issue also impacted on
neighbouring wards and acknowledged there was a high level of
frustration with resident’s and agreed there was a reputational issue for
everyone involved.

2.6.3

The Committee considered the request to nominate at least one new
member from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to replace Councillor
Ingwall-King on the Modern-Day Slavery Working Group who resigned as
a West Suffolk Councillor in March 2021. The Committee felt that
Councillor Julia Wakelam who would be replacing Councillor Ingwall-King
on the Committee might be interested in sitting on this Group and agreed
to defer this item to its next scheduled meeting on 8 July 2021 for further
consideration.
At the conclusion of discussions, the Committee:
1.

noted the current status of topics currently scheduled in its rolling
work programme for 2021, attached at Appendix 1;

2.

deferred nominating a Councillor to sit on the Modern-Day Slavery
Working Group until it’s 8 July 2021 meeting; and

3.

accepted the CCfA for inclusion into its forward work programme.

3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

Please see background papers.

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

Please see background papers.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

Please see background papers.

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

Financial:
Please see background papers.

Page 34

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/025
6.2

Equalities:
Please see background papers.

7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Please see background papers.

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

Report number: OAS/WS/21/006 and Appendix A to the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee: Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership
Monitoring Report (April 2020 to March 2021).

8.2

Report number: OAS/WS/21/007 to the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee: Collection of Council Tax and Business Rates

8.3

Report number: OAS/WS/21/008 and Appendix 1, 2 and 3 to the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee: Website Review Group Findings

8.4

Report number: OAS/WS/21/009 and Appendix 1 to the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee: Review of Council Markets – Terms of Reference

8.5

Report number: OAS/WS/21/010 and Appendix 1 to the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee: Cabinet Decisions Plan: 1 June 2021 to 31 May
2022

8.6

Report number: OAS/WS/21/011 and Appendix 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 to
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: Work programme update and
Councillor Call for Action Submission

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026

Public access to West
Suffolk Council offices
Report number:

CAB/WS/21/026

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor Robert Everitt
Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities
Telephone: 01284 769000
Email: robert.everitt@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Davina Howes
Director (Families and Communities)
Telephone: 01284 757070
Email: davina.howes@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

The decision made as a result of this report will
usually be published within 48 hours and cannot be
actioned until five clear working days of the
publication of the decision have elapsed. This item is
included on the Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Cabinet:

29 June 2021

1.

Notes, as set out in the Council’s Customer
Access Strategy, the continued prioritisation
of online and telephone customer support to
improve customer service.

2.

Notes the type and level of contact managed
by the Customer Service team and the
impact of COVID 19 on customer access.

3.

Agrees that, if face to face customer contact
is necessary, it is appointment only.
continued….

Page 37

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
4.

Agrees the following changes to the
Council’s buildings and customer access,
noting this formalises a number of
arrangements that have been in place since
March 2020 due to COVID restrictions:
a. Haverhill Office – Office to remain
open for pre-booked appointments
with no Council reception service.
Public access to Council services
provided by a phone and computers on
site.
b. Newmarket Guineas – Office to remain
closed to the public and used only as
an office base for car park staff. The
future use of the office will be kept
under review and subject to further
consideration.
c. Mildenhall Hub - Public access to
Council services provided by a phone
and computers on site or through a
pre-booked appointment. A Hub Host
service provided on site covering all
co-located partner services.
d. Mildenhall bus station – Building to
remain open as a place of shelter and
access to public toilets. No Council
reception services provided.
e. West Suffolk House – Building to
reopen with reception staff to provide
a visitor management service (for
access to meetings for the Council and
building tenants). Public access to
Council services provided by a phone
and computers on site or via prearranged appointment.
f. West Suffolk Operational Hub, Council
depot – Reception to remain open to
support pre-booked workshop
business and for appointment only
visitor management.
g. Car park office, Bury St Edmunds - No
public access to be available from this
site. All services to be provided online
or via telephone.
continued….

Page 38

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
5.

Notes the financial impacts as set out in
paragraph 6.1 of Report number:
CAB/WS/21/026 and approves funding for
the one-off costs from the Council’s Invest
to Save reserve.

Page 39

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026

1.

Context to this report

1.1

For a number of years as part of its programme of transformation and
customer service improvement, the Council has expanded and invested in
its online access to services, with the focus being to enable public access
online 24/7. This has been supported by the Customer Contact Centre so
that assistance can be provided over the telephone to those who are
unable to access online services. As a result, over the past few years
customer access has changed with a reduction in face to face and
telephone contact, to online contact. As an example, from 2018-2019 to
2020-2021 there was an 86 per cent increase in website unique page
views and a 68 per cent decrease in the number of calls to the Customer
Contact Centre. See Appendix A for further information. The Council’s
approach to customer service is set out in its Customer Access Strategy
West Suffolk Council Customer Access Strategy 2019 - 2022.

1.2

Prior to March 2020, the Council provided a number of public access sites
across the district which enabled customers to drop in and speak to
customer service staff. Over the years, staff have supported customers
to move online and, as a result, the number of customers visiting these
sites has reduced. As an example, between 2018 to 2019 and 2019 to
2020 the number of face-to-face customers across West Suffolk Council
sites decreased by 22 per cent (see Appendix A). Staff at these sites have
increasingly moved from providing reactive face to face services, to
encouraging customers to use online services. Customer online activity is
supported by the team in the Customer Contact Centre, who also manage
administrative work for Council services, for example, processing
applications. In addition, throughout the past year, the Council has
increased its direct and targeted contact with customers either over the
phone or by email, particularly those who are vulnerable and businesses
during COVID. As a result, our proactive contact with customers has
increased, as opposed to waiting for customers to contact the Council and
reacting accordingly. This has, in the main, been a positive impact on the
dynamic between the Council and its customers, confirming a change in
customer behaviour since lockdown.

1.3

Since March 2020, the Council has provided all its customer services
either online, over the telephone or through video conferencing. All
Council services can be provided without the need for customers to visit
Council offices, with the exception of a very small number of verification
or licensing tasks. If a face-to-face contact in an office is required, an
appointment can be arranged. The offices in Haverhill and Mildenhall have
been open to the public for pre-arranged appointments since March 2020,
with drop-in access limited to Jobcentre (DWP) services.

1.4

Given the experience of the past 15 months, the already significant shift
in customer contact to online and telephone, and the need to continue to
reduce unnecessary in person contact in light of COVID, the Council has
reviewed its approach to public access. This report sets out the findings
of this review. It concludes that the focus should remain on improving

Page 40

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
online and telephone services, and as such a number of recommendations
are made in relation to each of its public access or office buildings.
Access to leisure and cultural venues, such as museums and the Apex,
remain unaffected as does access to public meetings.
2.

Proposals within this report
Overview of changes to public access

2.1

The Council monitors how people access its services. The past few years
has seen a steady increase in the number of services provided online
alongside a reduction in the need for customers to visit the Council
offices. However, it is recognised that some customers may not have
online access or may prefer to speak to a member of staff. The Customer
Contact Centre therefore provides support to customers to access a range
of services at the first point of contact. Increased online services,
supplemented with telephone support if needed remains the priority for
the Council. Table one at Appendix A shows how the different types of
customer contact have changed over the past three years.

2.2

Despite the closure of the Council offices to the public since March 2020,
satisfaction with the customer service offer has remained high (see table
three at Appendix A). All customer transactions have been supported
either online, over the telephone or using video conferencing.

2.3

Based on the experience of the past 15 months, it is proposed that the
Council makes changes to its customer service provision at each of its
offices. These changes have been in place since March 2020 with the
recommendation being to continue with these arrangements following the
proposed removal of COVID restrictions from June 2021 onwards (or date
agreed in line with government guidance).

2.4

In making these recommendations, the Council has considered the
customer access data prior to and during COVID. It has also sought the
views of partner organisations, including those who share the buildings,
and with representatives of disability organisations. The findings of our
engagement with other stakeholders, supplemented by an equality
impact assessment, are set out in section four of this report.

2.5

A number of factors have been considered when making
recommendations about the future of customer access, including: (i)
digital exclusion; (ii) impact on customers, particularly those who are
vulnerable; (iii) any detrimental impact on other organisations; (iv)
security of visitors and staff on each site; and (v) financial impact
(section 6.1 of this report).

2.6

The recommendations do not change the arrangements to the following:
provision of 24/7 online access; customer contact phone support Monday

Page 41

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
to Friday, 8:45am to 5pm; and pre-arranged appointments with staff.
Staff will continue to meet with customers in various locations across the
district as part of their role, for example, Building Control; Housing;
Environmental Health; Planning and Conservation and so on.
Furthermore, it is not proposed to make any changes to the democratic
process with access to meetings (either in person or online) being
unaffected.
2.7

The introduction of appointment only services where a face-to-face
meeting is required means the most appropriate member of staff is
available and the customer will have been advised of what information or
paperwork is needed to ensure that the meeting is productive. This
reduces any wasted customer time and/or journeys.

2.8

Haverhill Offices – Lower Downs Slade
Since July 2020, the office has been open to the public to provide limited
access to the Jobcentre. The proposal is to offer access to Council
services from the building over the telephone or the use of the public
access computers. The area of the building which was previously used by
Council customer service staff has remained unstaffed for over a year.
The onsite presence has been provided by Jobcentre staff and security.

2.9

It is suggested that this situation continues even following the removal of
COVID restrictions with no drop-in service for Council services provided
from this building. It should be noted that the number of Council
customers visiting this site has reduced over the years with an 18 per
cent fall in the number of customers between 2018 to 2019 and 2019 to
2020.

2.10

Council staff will continue to use the office as a touchdown point to work.
Furthermore, staff can continue to make arrangements to meet
customers for appointments in the office should this be required.
Facilities Management staff will make use of the former customer service
desks in the reception area.

2.11

Existing tenants of the building (Jobcentre, Citizens Advice and Suffolk
County Council) have been consulted on the Council’s proposed
recommendation and have not raised any operational concerns. Minor
changes will need to be made to the Facilities Management contract to
ensure that the telephone and public access computers are operational
and cleaned in line with health and safety advice. here may also be a
small cost to modifying Council signs in the building.

2.12

Newmarket Guineas office
Prior to March 2020, this office was staffed by the Customer Service
Team with more than one person being on duty at anyone time due to
security concerns and layout of the building, not due to the number of

Page 42

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
visitors. Visitors to this office have reduced over the years with the
majority of customer queries relating to council tax (26 per cent of
transactions in 2019 to 2020). Between 2018 to 2019 and 2019 to 2020
the total number of customer visits to the office reduced by 24 per cent.
2.13

This office has remained closed to public access since March 2020. The
Council’s car park team have continued to use the building for office
space and it is also a store for emergency planning.

2.14

It is recommended that this office remains closed to the public following
the ending of Covid restrictions. All Council services can be provided
online or over the telephone.

2.15

The office was also the location for the Suffolk County Council Registrar
and this part-time service will be relocated to an alternative venue.

2.16

It is recommended that the office continues to be used by the car park
service until alternatives can be identified. There will be an immediate
reduction in the cost of Facilities Management cleaning on site. There is a
small cost to modifying the signs from the outside of the building and to
instal window freezes to improve its appearance.

2.17

We will review options on the lease in consultation with the landlord,
which could include the potential to surrender, sublet or assign the lease.
In the case of the surrender or reassignment of the premises, the parking
team would need to relocate either to alternative commercial space or
other Council premises.

2.18

Mildenhall Hub
Since March 2020, the College Heath Road office has been open to the
public to provide limited access to the Jobcentre on an appointment only
basis for its most vulnerable customers. The area of the building which
was previously used by the Council customer services team has remained
unstaffed. The onsite presence has been provided by Jobcentre staff and
security. In June 2021, these arrangements were transferred to the
Mildenhall Hub.

2.19

It is suggested that this arrangement continues even following the
removal of COVID restrictions. Public access to Council services will be by
telephone or public access PCs in the library area, or pre-arranged
appointment. It should be noted that the number of Council customers
visiting the former College Heath Road site has reduced over the years
with a 20 per cent reduction of visitors between 2018 to 2019 and 2019
to 2020.

2.20

Staff can make arrangements to meet customers for appointments in the
Hub should this be required.

Page 43

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
2.21

The Council contributes towards the cost of the security on site, in
addition to the security already in place provided by the Jobcentre. A
phone to access Council services and public access computers provided
by the library will be available on site.

2.22

In addition, partners such as Abbeycroft and the Library service are
providing a ‘Hub Host’ service on site and are aware of how to signpost
customers to Council services.

2.23

Mildenhall Bus Station
It is recommended that the Council continues with the current
arrangements of the building remaining open only for shelter and public
toilets. No customer service staff will be onsite.

2.24

The number of visitors to the building in the years prior to 2020 had
reduced and the majority of customer contact related to bus services,
which is not a Council function and information is available online. The
number of customers visiting the access point at this site reduced by 11
per cent between 2018 to 2019 and 2019 to 2020 following a number of
years of continual decline in footfall. Footfall is not recorded for people
using the site for access to the public toilet and for shelter.

2.25

Vandalism and anti-social behaviour on this site has been problematic for
a number of years and has increased in the absence of a staff presence
(albeit staff were not employed to act as security). Modifications have
been made to this building to limit access to the toilets only (see section
6.1 below) and CCTV is in operation. However, the design of this building
is not conducive to eliminating entirely antisocial behaviour. We are keen
to explore future sustainable uses of the site.

2.26

West Suffolk House, Bury St Edmunds
West Suffolk House has remained closed to the public since March 2020
with access only to staff of building tenants. Over the years the number
of customers visiting West Suffolk House to access services has fallen.
Between 2018 to 2019 and 2019 to 2020 the number of customers
visiting this site reduced by 25 per cent (this excludes visitors for prearranged meetings and to access democratic meetings). However, the
site is used by all partners in the building for meetings and pre-arranged
appointments. Therefore, visitor management activity remained high in
comparison with the other sites with a reception team providing visitor
management services to all building tenants. The visitor management
function is part funded by Suffolk County Council.

2.27

Whilst the Council and other partners in the building will be considering
post-COVID arrangements for office-based staff and meeting access in
offices, it is likely that there will remain a requirement for some face-to-

Page 44

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
face meetings. As such, a visitor management service will be necessary at
this building.
2.28

It is therefore recommended that, from June 2021 (or the date agreed in
line with government public health guidance) that the office is re-opened
only for pre-arranged meetings and bookings. Customer Service staff will
no longer be available on site to manage drop-in enquires. Customer
Service staff will only be on site to support visitor management functions.
Customers without their own telephone or computer will be able to access
both onsite (similar to the arrangements in Haverhill and Mildenhall).

2.29

To support the visitor management service provided by the Customer
Service team, Facilities Management will be on site and arrangements in
place to manage the transition to appointment only services. Access to
any democratic meetings will not be affected with public access to
meetings, either virtually or in person, remaining open.

2.30

West Suffolk Operational Hub – Council depot
The reception at this facility is to remain open to support the pre-booked
workshop business (MOTs, taxi testing, tachometer testing, brake roller
testing, goods inwards) but also to support appointment only visitor
management. This is not a walk-up facility that is open to the general
public and visitors will remain appointment only.

2.31

Car park office, Bury St Edmunds
Prior to March 2020, there were occasional visitors to the car park office
in Bury St Edmunds, specifically for contractors to collect on-street
parking permits and to deal with any day-to-day parking issues raised by
the public. It is recommended that this office remains closed to the public
following the removal of COVID restrictions. Since the implementation of
Civil Parking Enforcement, all services provided by the car parks team are
available online or over the telephone.

2.32

Communicating the changes
It will be important to communicate the changes outlined above and to
ensure that customers are signposted and supported to access services.
Key partners will also be informed so that there is no negative impact on
either their own customers or any increased demand from the Council’s
customers. A full communication plan has been prepared to ensure a
smooth a transition as possible.

3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

The Council could reintroduce the arrangements that were in place prior
to March 2020 at some or all of these sites. However, this would not

Page 45

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
capture the benefits of the significant change in customer access and
behaviour which have resulted as a consequence of COVID restrictions
(and were emerging before the restrictions). More services are available
online or over the telephone which is accessible, regardless of where
customers live and a time which is convenient. Assistance is available to
those who are unable to use online services. This continues the Council’s
approach to transformation and the improvement in customer services
which has been in place for a number of years and as set out in its
Customer Access Strategy.
3.2

The Council could have closed all offices to customer access, however,
the buildings which are recommended to remain open are shared spaces
and used by other organisations.

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

Consultation and engagement has been carried out with a range of
partner organisations, including those based in the Council buildings and
those representing disability groups, and with some Council staff. The
basis of this initial engagement was to understand the impact of these
recommendations with the aim of understanding the following:
1. What are the implications of these recommendations?
2. What would be the implications for customers of these
recommendations? Where might the customer demand, preCOVID, be diverted to?
3. From a customers’ perspective, what would be the equalities
implications (if any) of continuing with the current alternative
arrangements?

4.2

The Council has detailed information about the number of people
accessing different services and through which channel, for example,
online, in person or over the telephone. Based on this understanding of
customer access Council Service Managers have been consulted to
identify any risks or mitigations with customers accessing services in light
of the recommendations in this report. Any concerns or risks were
identified, with mitigations so that customers can be supported
appropriately.

4.3

Consultation has also been carried out with a number of partner
organisations. Some of the partners are based in the Council offices and
others are based elsewhere but may either signpost to council services or
support customers. The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP),
Citizens Advice and Suffolk County Council have all indicated that the
changes they had to make to their own service provision during the
previous 15 months were in line with Council services. As a result, there
were no operational concerns raised about our proposals. In terms of the
co-location of partners at Mildenhall Hub, the concept of the Hub Host

Page 46

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
model had been discussed prior to COVID-19 and replaces the ‘traditional
reception’ for those points of first contact with customers.
4.4

During the development of these recommendations, views were sought
from disability groups and those supporting vulnerable customers. This
was to ensure that those who have particular needs are not negatively
impacted by the recommendations and not excluded from services.
Representatives from the groups indicated that their experience had been
similar to the Council’s in that online platforms and digital services had
been a success for them and their customers. Each group intends to
continue this offer beyond any easing of COVID restrictions. The main
priority for each group was to ensure that the telephone support
remained available alongside the online offer. The issues identified as part
of this engagement are included in the risk section of this report (section
five and Appendix B) and in the Equality Impact Assessment (section 6.4
below and Appendix C).

4.5

Conversations with other councils in Suffolk indicates that each is
considering its customer services offer with the focus being online and
telephone support.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

A detailed risk assessment has been undertaken and considered alongside
the Equality Impact Assessment. The risk assessment, including
mitigations is included in Appendix B.

5.2

The key elements of risk relate to the need to ensure that customers can
still easily access Council services. In many cases the risk can be
mitigated by ensuring that there is a robust communication plan which
ensures that individuals are aware of how to access Council services. This
includes targeted communication so that it reaches specific groups who
may be vulnerable and/or have a protected characteristic under the
Equality Act 2010.

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

Financial
The identified costs and savings associated with the recommendations is
set out below:
One-off Costs
Removal of signs – Haverhill, Newmarket and
£1,000
Mildenhall Bus Station
Window freezes – Newmarket
£300
Building modifications – Mildenhall Bus Station

Page 47

£3,500

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026

Additional FM costs - new signs, removal of
desks/storage, general decommissioning costs

£5,000

Alterations to reception area (West Suffolk House
if needed) – sockets, furniture

£3,000

One off cost of change – redundancy (estimated
cost)
Total one-off costs

£120,000
£132,800

On-going savings
Reduction in Facilities Management costs –
Newmarket
Staffing (recuring)

£5,000

£90,000

Total on-going savings

£95,000

Year one net costs
Year two net saving
Annual savings from year 3 onwards

£37,800
£57,200
£95,000

One-off costs would total £132,800, this would be funded from the
invest-to-save reserve. On-going savings would total £95,000 per year,
giving a payback time of the original costs in one year five months.
6.2

Legal compliance – There are no legal implications to these
recommendations. Access to services remains, as does public access to
the democratic process. Targeted communication and support given to
those with protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010.

6.3

Personal data processing – There are no implications.

6.4

Equalities – A full Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) is attached as
Appendix C. This identified a number of key actions which need to be
undertaken to address the impact of this decision. This action plan is set
out on page 11 and 12 of Appendix C and will be implemented following
consideration of this proposal by Cabinet.

6.5

Crime and disorder – A security and/or Facilities Management staff
member(s) remains on site in office buildings which are open to the
public. CCTV remains in place as appropriate. As stated above, the
Mildenhall Bus Station is a target for anti-social behaviour and mitigations

Page 48

Cabinet – 29 June 2021 – CAB/WS/21/026
have been put in place, such as CCTV. This is being monitored and
further action considered if necessary.
6.6

Environment or sustainability – As part of the Council’s Climate Action
Plan agreed in July 2020, the Council committed to continue to explore
opportunities to reduce the impact on the environment by reducing
vehicle and transport related greenhouse gas emissions. Whilst that
related to the Council’s own fleet, it is working with public sector
colleagues across Suffolk to look at further opportunities to support the
wider journey to a carbon neutral Suffolk. 37 per cent of CO2 emissions
in Suffolk in 2017 came from transport and achieving carbon neutrality by
2030 will require significant action across a range of stakeholders in
Suffolk (source: Suffolk Climate Emergency Plan, Technical Report
(greensuffolk.org). This is one way we can support that ambition with the
promotion of reduce need to commute, fewer journeys for face-to-face
meetings, and more accessible services online.

6.7

HR or staffing – The recommendations if approved will result in a
reduction in staff of approximately five full time equivalent. A formal
process of staff engagement and consultation is being undertaken.

6.8

Changes to existing policies – no changes as the recommendations
support the continued delivery of the Council’s Customer Access Strategy.

6.9

External organisations (such as businesses, community groups)
This matter is addressed in section four above.

7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Appendix A: Customer access data

7.2

Appendix B: Risk register

7.3

Appendix C: Equality Impact Assessment

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

Recommendations of the St Edmundsbury and Forest Heath Overview and
Scrutiny Committees: 9 and 10 January 2019 – Customer Access
Strategy 2019-2022 Report No: EXC/SA/19/008 Report to and date:
Shadow Executive (Cabinet) 5 February 201
Forest Heath District Council (westsuffolk.gov.uk)

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A - Customer transaction data
Table 1 – Type of customer contact
April 2018 March 2019

April 2019 March 2020

April 2020 –
March 2021

%
increase/decrease

Face to face
71,317
55,692
Phone calls to the
Customer Contact
Centre (reactive)
293,255
156,593
93,282*
-68.2%
Website - unique
page views
1,376,232
1,922,739
2,555,178
85.7%
*Note: Due to the Covid crisis priority was given to making targeted calls to
residents and businesses impacted, as opposed to only responding to incoming calls.
Support for those shielding and a focus on contacting businesses for grants are two
examples. Over 4,000 proactive calls made to those who were shielding.

Table 2 – Face to face customer contact by location
April 2018 –
March 2019

Face to face#
Haverhill

April 2019 - March
2020

% decrease

9,598

7,894

18%

10,011

8,032

20%

5,754

5,105

11%

Newmarket

10,755

8,170

24%

West Suffolk House

35,199

26,491

25%

Mildenhall
Mildenhall Bus Station

Grand Total
71,317
55,692
#Note: the number includes multiple visits by the same customers.

22%

Table 3 – Customer satisfaction survey responses

2019/20
2020/21

Satisfied
837
748

Neutral
0
55

Dissatisfied
264
82

Page 51

Total
1101
885

% survey respondents
who said they were
satisfied
76.0%
84.5%

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B
Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Risk log
Reference

1

Risk

Page 53

Pressure from people
to maintain facilities
and keep all public
access sites open with
the same
arrangements as prior
to March 2020

Risk rating Impact
(Probability
times (x)
impact)

(Quantify where
possible)

5 x 2 = 10

Reputational
(adverse)

Controls and mitigation

Date

Residual
risk
(Probability
times (x)
impact)

Understanding of how customers
have accessed services since March
2020. Completion of Equality
Impact Assessment (EqIA) to
understand implications of changes
on different groups (including those
with protected characteristics).
Analysis of demand data, evidence
to support ability to access services
over the telephone or online,
engagement with services as to
service delivery impact from any
changes to site access from
customers’ point of view and also
adoption of visitor management
principles.

February
2021

4x1=4

Implementation of a
communications strategy associated
with any changes, reassurance to
address any perceived loss of
service from proposals.

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Risk log v1.0, February 2021

1

2

Impact of loss of
building access for IT
purposes:


IT server at The
Guineas



CCTV and IT
exchange at
Mildenhall Bus
Station

2x4=8

If relocation of
provision, then
both sites would
need
decommissioning
and contractors
engaged to carry
out relocation of
infrastructure.

Infrastructure Manager has had
exploratory conversation with
OpenReach contractors. Estimate of
£5,000 per site for relocation works
and around three month wait for
work to be scheduled. Both issues
to be managed and costs as part of
separate business cases when
future of buildings discussed.

March
2021

2x1=2

Data and evidence to be provided to
support the proposals to change the
way council services are delivered.
Consideration of those services
which may require face-to-face
contact and understanding of how
these have been managed since
March 2020. Pre-arranged
appointment services to continue.

March
2021

2x1=2

February

2x1=2

If, in the case of
Mildenhall Bus
Station, the
building remains
open, but the
management
changes, an
access
agreement
would be
required.

Page 54
3

Operational

Perceived reduction of
council services
because of proposals

4x2=8

Reputational
(adverse)

EQIA process and interviews with
key stakeholders to inform the
mitigation of this risk.
4

Unintended disruption

4 x 3 = 12

Customer

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Risk log v1.0, February 2021

Proposed changes discussed fully

2

to service delivery as a
consequence of any
agreed changes to
public access provision

5

Loss of digital access
or public access
computers from
Newmarket Guineas
office.

2x3=9

Page 55
6

experience is
worsened as a
result of any
changes.

with the services previously offering
face-to-face services at the existing
sites.

2021

Digitally
disadvantaged
customers may
not have access
to personal
devices, or those
of friends or
family.

Libraries are able to offer public
access computers. All services
remain available via the telephone.
Pre-arranged appointments can be
offered if required.

February
2021

1x2=2

Early discussions with current
occupants. Alternative site being
found for Registrars (Suffolk County
Council). Car parks team to remain
while options for the building are
being considered.

February
2021

3x1=3

February
2021

2x1=2

Evidence of operating during the
pandemic for more than a year
means that many processes for
remote interactions or face-to-face
appointments are already in place
and have been working well.

Note that public
accesses
computers were
infrequently
used by
customers prelockdown.
Displacement of
partner occupiers from
any site closures –
Newmarket Guineas

4x2=8

The Guineas,
Newmarket
(Registrars
service and Car
parks).

No impact on partner occupiers at
any of the other sites.
7

Ongoing management
of infection spread as a
result of footfall

3x3=9

Changeable as
based on local
infection rates

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Risk log v1.0, February 2021

Government guidance applies.
COVID-safe space principles will
also be observed. Screens are in

3

increases after
reopening

8

Page 56

9

10

and positive
confirmed cases.

place already at West Suffolk
House. Appointment only principles
will apply on reopening. Customer
Access Strategy will also continue to
run alongside to actively encourage
channel shift from face-to-face to
telephone and online services.

Impact of proposed
closure of public access
sites on disadvantaged
communities, other
marginalised groups
and individuals and
those voluntary and
community groups who
support them

3 x2 = 6

Note that
services have
been running
during lockdown
and office and
building
closures.

Full EqIA has been completed and
consideration given to impact of
proposals on different groups,
including those with protected
characteristics. The proposals are a
continuation of service provision as
maintained during COVID
restrictions.

February
2021

2x1=2

Failure to undertake
appropriate
engagement or provide
due notice of proposed
changes to public
access provision

2x4=8

Presentational –
negative
publicity.

Stakeholder mapping undertaken
and representatives of impacted
groups contacted to understand
concerns and opportunities.

February
2021

2x1=2

Future management of
property asset as a
result of proposed
public access changes

2x2=4

February
2021

2x1=2

Ongoing exercise as part of the
EQIA approach and communications
strategy.
Mildenhall Bus
Station – future
management of
site.
The Guineas –
lease
considerations,
registrars and so
on.

Future options relating to the use of
Mildenhall Bus Station and the
Guineas at Newmarket will be
subject to separate considerations
and business cases.
Effective signs and communications
are key for all buildings, working
alongside partners.

Haverhill House
– signage,
vacant reception
Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Risk log v1.0, February 2021

4

area.
Management of
customers at shared
sites (Haverhill House
and Mildenhall Hub)

4x2=8

Other partners
operating at the
site find an
increase in
enquiries from
council
customers.

Communications, signage,
signposting to public access
computers and customer support
via reception telephone. Advice and
information provided to partners as
well as regular communication to
address any issues.

February
2021

2x2=4

12

Absence of reception
function in buildings
which remain open to
the public under
current proposals

3x3=9

Haverhill House

Signposting and continued access
computers and telephone at
Haverhill House.

February
2021

3x1=3

Ineffective visitor
management signs or
directions and
information

3x3=9

February
2021

1x2=2

February
2021

tbc

Page 57

11

13

14

Financial burdens
associated with nondisposal of council
assets and/or exit from
lease

Mildenhall Hub

Public computers available at
Mildenhall Hub (via the library
service). Hub Host model agreed.

4x2=8

Confused
customers,
frustrated
service users,
reputational
damage,
potential for
verbal abuse
from customers
who feel unable
to access the
service they
want or need.

Ongoing discussion with service
manager, Customer Services;
Buildings Manager and Facilities
Management.

The Guineas,
Newmarket

Both of these assets to be
considered in terms of net financial
impact (in use or closed status).

Mildenhall Bus
Station

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Risk log v1.0, February 2021

Communications plan to ensure that
messaging is clear and customers
supported with the transition and
change.

Any future use or disposal will need
5

to be agreed through the
appropriate decision-making
process.
15

Ineffective
management of
vulnerable customers
at public access sites

3x3=9

Homeless,
hospital
discharges,
probation,
police, social
care,
safeguarding.

Enhancements to Facilities
Management (FM) and security and
general circulation or availability of
visitor management guidance.

February
2021

3x2=6

Reception and supervisory staff
(Customer Services) will be in place
at West Suffolk House.
Hub Host model in place for
Mildenhall Hub.

Page 58

Continued communication with
those partner agencies impacted by
proposed access to reception
changes to ensure no inappropriate
signposting to the council.

16

Displacement of
customers to other
partners to manage –
for example, Citizens
Advice, DWP

3x2=6

Biggest impact
likely to be on
Citizens Advice
and DWP where
reception is
shared currently.

Existing network arrangements and
working relationships will mean that
any customer displacement will be
quickly shared. These partners
would be notified of any proposals
as part of the engagement process;
the council will also ensure that a
direct phone line is available to
customers wishing to access council
services which will further mitigate
any impact. It is expected that any
ongoing concerns would be raised
via the partnership or building
communications and satisfactory
mitigations identified.

February
2021

2x2=4

17

Misunderstanding that
changes may impact
on access to or

2x4=8

Reputational
(negative

Clear communications plan. No
impact on access to committee
meetings as a result of the

March
2021

1x1=1

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Risk log v1.0, February 2021

6

attendance of
committee meetings as
a result of proposed
changes to public
access arrangements
18

19

Page 59

20

impact)

proposals.

Reputational

The proposals allow for access to
March
the building, so, if there are public
2021
consultation displays or notice board
requirements, West Suffolk House,
Mildenhall Hub and Haverhill House
will all be able to accommodate this.

Access to display or
production of
documents that need
to be made available to
inspect on request
from members of the
public – for example,
registers, published
documents,
consultation materials

2x3=6

Contractor
management in
buildings where public
access is not reinstated

4 x 3 = 12

Operational

Property or FM to manage
contractor appointments across all
buildings.

March
2021

4x2=8

Deliveries management 4 x 3 = 12
in buildings where
public access is not
reinstated

Operational

Proposed buildings affected will
either have FM staff present or will
not reopen at all to the public and
therefore staff receiving deliveries
will self-manage.

March
2021

4x2=8

Presentational

1x1=1

Specific requests would need to be
managed where potentially the
appointments system could be put
to use in order to manage the visit.

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Risk log v1.0, February 2021

7

Risk rating definitions
Risk rating

Level of risk

Action required to mitigate risk

More than 15
More than 5 and less than 15

High
Medium

Less than 5

Low

Immediate action required to transfer, treat or remove the risk
Some degree of planned action required to transfer, treat, tolerate or
remove the risk
No further action required – continue monitoring the situation

Page 60
Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Risk log v1.0, February 2021

8

Appendix C

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment
Contents

Page 61

Part one – Screening Equality Impact Assessment…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………1
Impacts table ................................................................................................................................................... 4
Action plan ....................................................................................................................................................... 8
Sign off section ................................................................................................................................................. 8
Part two – Full Equality Impact Assessment……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………9
Sign off section ............................................................................................................................................... 14
Appendix 1: Communicating the change in public access arrangements – proposed methods, drawing on equalities
considerations………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..15

Part one – Screening Equality Impact Assessment
Question

Response

1. Name of the strategy, policy, programme or
project being assessed.

West Suffolk Council - arrangements for customer access to buildings
following COVID-19 closures.

2. In no more than five lines and using plain
English, summarise the purpose of the policy or
proposal and its desired outcomes.

A proposal that: where face-to-face customer contact is necessary, it is
provided online or virtually, by telephone, or as pre-arranged
appointment(s), with no drop-in services available across West Suffolk
Council’s office buildings.
The proposal does not apply to:

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

1

Appendix C
Question

Response


visitor management at West Suffolk House (for staff and councillor
meetings and meetings managed by Democratic Services and partner
agency meetings)
public access to statutory documents (for elections and so on)
contact with regulatory services which will continue in homes and
business premises
leisure and cultural buildings (for example, Apex, Moyses Hall).





The following groups are likely to benefit:
 customers who are less able to physically access council buildings, due
to work patterns, transport availability or physical disabilities, will
benefit from the improved online, telephone or virtual offer
 all West Suffolk Council tax payers, through more efficient use of
resources and through reduction in environmental impact due to
reduced travel to council buildings
 vulnerable customers who have previously been wrongly advised by
partner organisations to access the Council offices but then cannot be
properly helped
 all building users, due to a reduction in incidents arising from
distressed or disruptive customers needing to be supported and dealt
with, including a reduction in attendance by police.

4. Is there any evidence or reason to believe
that, in relation to this proposal, there may be a
difference in:

Without appropriate mitigations and communication, the impact of the above
proposal may be experienced negatively by those from the following groups:

Page 62

3. Who should benefit from the proposal and in
what way?







levels of participation
uptake by different groups
needs or experiences of different groups
priorities
other areas






individuals who have poor or no Internet access
individuals for whom English is not their first language, who prefer face
to face contact
individuals who have physical or learning disabilities or mental health
issues that mean they prefer face to face contact
vulnerable individuals in crisis who have found it hard to navigate the
public sector system.

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

2

Appendix C
Question

Response
Data showing the most common reasons for customers coming into West
Suffolk Council office buildings in person give the following top issues:





housing (and homelessness)
Council Tax
benefits
licensing

It is therefore also important to consider whether customers who are
‘dropping in’ to council buildings for advice and support on these issues
include a higher proportion of individuals from groups with protected
characteristics than the West Suffolk population as a whole.

Page 63

Specific data are not available to answer this question directly. However,
proxy data can be used, as follows:




While black and minority ethnic (BME) groups make up 4.8 per cent of
Suffolk’s population, they make up 9.6 per cent of the Job Seekers
Allowance (JSA) claimant group. At national level, 14.6 per cent of
England’s population are of BME background, while 25.5 per cent of
JSA claimants are from this group at national level (Department for
Work and Pensions, 2018). Given the link between Job Seekers
Allowance and other benefits issues referenced above, including
Council Tax discount, it could therefore be the case that a higher
proportion of individuals seeking face to face advice on these issues in
West Suffolk could be from a BME background.
The proportion of taxi drivers and owners of food premises for whom
English is not their first language is significantly higher than the West
Suffolk population as a whole. It could therefore be the case that a
higher proportion of these individuals are from non-white ethnic

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

3

Appendix C
Question

Response
backgrounds. This is supported by Department for Transport data: Taxi
and private hire vehicle statistics, England and Wales: 2017 which
found that the two main ethnic groups of drivers at the national level
were White and Asian or Asian British, making up 47 per cent and 38
per cent of drivers respectively.

5. Using the evidence listed above, fill in the
table below to highlight the groups you think this
policy or proposal has the potential to impact
upon:

Page 64




Is there any potential for negative impact?
Are there opportunities for positive impact or
to promote equality of opportunity?

Impacts table
Is there
potential for
negative
impact?

Are there
opportunities
for positive
impact?

If yes, please provide details of the impact below
Positive
impact

Negative impact

All groups or society generally

Age – Older or younger people

Yes

Yes

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

See answer
to Question
3 (Q3)
above

4

Older people who previously relied on
‘dropping in’ to council buildings may find
accessing services online more
challenging due to less access to the
Internet and poorer digital skills. They

Appendix C
may also be less likely to hear about the
changes in advance.

Page 65

Disability - People with a
disability, including those living
with dementia

Yes

Yes

See Q3
above

Without appropriate support being in
place, customers with physical or learning
disabilities or mental health issues
affecting communication may find it more
challenging to access services online or
by telephone, compared to face to face
contact.

Sex - Women or men

No

Yes

See Q3
above

Not applicable

Pregnancy or maternity including expectant or new
parents

No

Yes

See Q3
above

Not applicable

Marriage and civil partnership
– including same sex couples

No

Yes

See Q3
above

Not applicable

Race - People who are black or
from a minority ethnic background Yes
(BME)

Yes

See Q3
above

As for answer to Question 4, the
customers most likely to be impacted by
the proposals may include a higher
proportion of individuals from a BME
background.

Religion - People with a religion
or belief (or who choose not to
have a religion or belief)

Yes

See Q3
above

Not applicable

Yes

See Q3
above

Not applicable

Yes

Sexual orientation - People who
are lesbian, gay or bisexual (LGB) No
or in a civil partnership

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

5

Appendix C

Page 66

Gender reassignment - People
who are transitioning from one
gender to another

No

Yes

See Q3
above

Not applicable

Families and those with parenting
or caring responsibilities (The
Families Test)

No

Yes

See Q3
above

Not applicable

People on a low income

Yes

Yes

See Q3
above

Lower income households may have
poorer access to the internet

See Q3
above

A lack of access to the internet through
poor rural broadband may impact on
customers’ ability to confidently access
services online. Ofcom data from 2019
showed that between 4 and 5 per cent of
West Suffolk’s rural areas were unable to
receive 2 Megabits per second (Mbps)
broadband, compared to 0.1 to 0.8 per
cent of the urban areas.

See Q3
above

Customers who do not speak English as a
first language may not feel confident in
dealing with services online or by
telephone and may prefer to speak face
to face. While this will still be possible by
appointment, the arrangements for
making appointments need to be suitable
for this group. Language Line is available
to support where appropriate.

People suffering rural isolation

Yes

People who do not have English as
Yes
a first language

Question

Yes

Yes

Response

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

6

Appendix C
6. Considering your answers to question five
above, do you believe a full EqIA is necessary?

Yes

7. Considering our duty to proactively tackle
disadvantage and promote equality of
opportunity, list the actions required in the table
below.

Page 67
Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

7

Appendix C

Action Plan
Equality group or
characteristic

Action or milestone

Responsibility
Achievement date Monitoring
(Project manager or
arrangements
partner
organisation)

All listed above who
may experience a
negative impact

Further consultation with West Suffolk Public Access Group
services and partnership
(staff group)
organisations, plus representatives of
all affected groups (see full EqIA)

Sign off section

Page 68

This Screening Level EqIA was completed by:
Name Liz Barnard
Job Title Service Manager, Corporate Policy
Date June 2021

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

8

Appendix C

Part two – Full Equality Impact Assessment
Question

Response

Summary

Page 69

1. Name of the strategy, policy,
programme or project being
assessed.

West Suffolk Council - arrangements for public access to council office buildings following
COVID-19 closures.

2. In no more than five lines and
using plain English, summarise
the purpose of the policy or
proposal, and its desired
outcomes.

A proposal that: where face-to-face customer contact is necessary, it is provided online or
virtually, by phone, or as pre-arranged appointment(s), with no drop-in services available
across West Suffolk Council’s office buildings.
The proposal does not apply to:
1. visitor management (for staff meetings and meetings managed by Democratic
Services)
2. public access to statutory documents (for example, for elections)
3. contact with regulatory services which will continue in homes and business premises
4. leisure and cultural buildings (for example, Apex, Moyses Hall).

Evidence
3. What does the current evidence Equality group or characteristic
tell us about possible inequalities
Older people
in relation to this proposal?
Disabled people

Issue(s)
See Screening EqIA

People from a BME background
Low income households
People suffering rural isolation

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

9

Appendix C
People who do not speak English as their
first language
Consultation
4. How do you plan to seek the
views of the groups outlined
above?

Method

Complete?

General consultation event
(open to all)

Not the preferred method

Use regional Equality Networks

Not the preferred method

Specific and targeted consultation
workshop

Not the preferred method

Seek specialist advice from relevant
organisations

We will engage with representative groups to
ascertain:

Page 70




Commission research

What has been the impact on the customer
groups listed in Q3 above during 2020 to 2021?
What further measures (if any) need to be put
in place to maximise the accessibility of council
services to these groups?

Not the preferred method

Other (please detail)
Consultation results
5. Using the table below, summarise the results of the consultation exercise (attach full records of consultation carried out).
Consultation results

Please outline each impact (positive or Impact
negative) identified through the
Negative,
consultation process
positive or
neutral?

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

10

Evidence
The process should have highlighted new
information, for example: secondary
research or anecdotal experiences of
individuals from specific groups.

Appendix C

Page 71

ACE Anglia (Advocacy
for people with learning
disabilities)

Very little obvious impact.
ACE has made significant progress in
supporting clients and accessing Council
services through use of technology
platforms (for example, video meetings)
and does not perceive problems with the
proposals.

Suffolk Coalition of
Disabled People (SCDP)

Very little obvious impact.
Neutral
An online-only service would be a concern;
however, the ongoing presence of a
contact centre was reassuring.
SCDP will continue with digital support for
clients.

Anecdotal feedback.

Dementia Alliance

An online only service offer would be a
Neutral
concern, the ongoing presence of a contact
centre was well received and reassure the
customer group.

Anecdotal feedback

Citizens Advice (CA)

Very little obvious impact. Proposals match Neutral
CA’s proposed operating model
(appointments only).

Anecdotal evidence based on CA client
group, which included individuals with
protected characteristics.

Department for Work
and Pensions
(Jobcentre)

Very little obvious impact.

Operational feedback. DWP offices
located in West Suffolk Council buildings
(Mildenhall and Haverhill) remained open
during COVID lockdown, and did not
witness adverse impact from Council
services not being available face to face.

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

Neutral

Operational feedback.

Neutral

11

Appendix C
Decision – final outcome
Based on the results of this full EqIA, please select how this policy or proposal will be taken forward:

Page 72

Implement policy or proposal without making any
changes

No

Implement policy or proposal but take action (listed
below) to address impacts identified

Yes

Implement policy or proposal as a pilot and monitor
for impact

No

Abandon policy or proposal and redesign with
involvement of specific groups from the outset

No

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

12

Appendix C
Action plan
Equality group or Action or milestone
characteristic

Responsibility
Achievement Monitoring
(Project manager or date
arrangements
partner organisation)

All groups who
may be negatively
impacted by the
proposals

Public Access Group

Effective communication of the change (see
Appendix 1).

Page 73

Training or awareness raising of West Suffolk Public Access Group
Council staff and staff in partner
organisations to signpost customers to the
right support, including appointment
arrangements. This needs to include
arrangements for accessing statutory
documents held by Elections and Democratic
Services.
Testing of website to ensure accessibility of
virtual services, telephone appointments or
face to face appointments to groups listed.

Public Access Group

Alternative arrangements for paperwork –
getting forms signed, scanning.

Public Access Group

Effective transition arrangements, while new Public Access Group
arrangements are implemented, for example,
Facilities Management support.
Ensure arrangements for translation and
Public Access Group
interpretation services are understood and
communicated effectively to all staff and
onsite partner organisations. Continue to use
Language Line.

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

13

June

Appendix C

Sign off section
This EqIA was completed by:
Name

Liz Barnard

Job title

Service Manager, Corporate Policy

Date

June 2021

Page 74
Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

14

Appendix C

Appendix a: Communicating the change in public access
arrangements – proposed methods, drawing on
equalities considerations
Group or
Characteristic

Communication
method

People with little Notice or advert in a
or no Internet
publication
access

Detail






Notice on a
noticeboard




Newspapers
Parish magazines
Community newsletters
Local commercial magazines
(‘Directory’)
School newsletters
Local services – GP, pharmacy,
small shops, supermarkets,
library, post office, churches
Community or parish
noticeboards

Phone book

Phone number listed in phone
book.

Email to disability
groups, including
those representing
people with specific
disabilities

For example:
 Suffolk Coalition of Disabled
People
 Suffolk Family Carers
 Suffolk County Council Assisted
Technology Team
 Local community groups

Disabled people
and their carers
General

Social media
People with visual
impairment

Talking newspaper

For people with visual
impairments:
 St Edmundsbury Newstalk
 Fenprobe

People with
hearing
impairment

Email to organisations
supporting service
users, asking them to
inform staff and
service users



People with autism
spectrum
disorders,
dementia, or
learning disabilities

Email to organisations
supporting service
users, asking them to
inform staff and
service users

For example:
 National Autistic Society (West
Suffolk Group)
 Dementia Alliance and local
dementia groups
 Ace Anglia




Local groups such as Bury Deaf
Association
Captioned video
Note: publicise Text talk
number

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

Page 75

15

Appendix C
People with
English as an
Additional
Language

Email to local

community groups,
asking them to
communicate,

including translating
the messaging into the 
relevant language

Service users
(including
people on low
incomes)

Email to organisations
supporting service
users, asking them to
inform staff and
service users

All groups –
wide
communication

Social media
Email
Inclusion in regular
communication
methods

Use information from Families
and Communities and Census
engagement
Signpost to Translation Services
(Language Line)
Tailor approaches where we
have a large group with English
as an Additional Language (for
example, licensing).

Public sector
 Integrated neighbourhood
teams
 Police
 Hospital (including Wedgewood
unit)
 Clinical Commissioning Group
 Probation
 GPs
 Suffolk County Council – social
care
 Anglia Revenues Partnership
 Independent Wellbeing Service
Voluntary sector
 Gatehouse
 Registered providers
 Reach
 Foodbanks
 Community Action Suffolk
 Bury Drop In
 Other groups on Families and
Communities Team lists
Service users
 Taxi driver forum
 Houses in Multiple Occupation
landlords
 Agents, architects








Councillors
Parish and town councils
Suffolk Association of Local
Councils
Business improvement districts
Chambers of commerce
Residents associations

Public access to West Suffolk Council offices – Equality Impact Assessment

Page 76

16

West Suffolk Council

Decisions Plan

CAB/WS/21/027

Key decisions and other executive decisions to be considered
Date: 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2022
Publication date: 28 May 2021

Page 77

The following plan shows both the key decisions and other decisions/matters taken in private, that the Cabinet, portfolio holders,
joint committees or officers under delegated authority, are intending to take up to 31 May 2022. This table is updated on a monthly
rolling basis and provides at least 28 clear days’ notice of the consideration of any key decisions and of the taking of any items in
private.
Executive decisions are taken at public meetings of the Cabinet and by other bodies/individuals provided with executive decisionmaking powers. Some decisions and items may be taken in private during the parts of the meeting at which the public may be
excluded, when it is likely that confidential or exempt information may be disclosed. This is indicated on the relevant meeting
agenda and in the ‘Reason for taking the item in private’ column relevant to each item detailed on the plan.

In all instances, contact should be made with the named Officer in the first instance, either on the telephone number listed against
their name, or via email using the format firstname.surname@westsuffolk.gov.uk or via West Suffolk Council, West Suffolk House,
Western Way, Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk, IP33 3YU or College Heath Road, Mildenhall, Bury St Edmunds IP28 7EY.

Page 1 of 20

Agenda Item 9

Members of the public may wish to:
make enquiries in respect of any of the intended decisions listed below; or
receive copies of any of the documents in the public domain listed below; or
receive copies of any other documents in the public domain relevant to those matters listed below which may be submitted to
the decision taker; or
make representations in relation to why meetings to consider the listed items intended for consideration in private should be
open to the public.

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
29/06/21
(new)

Page 78
20/07/21

Public Access to
West Suffolk Council
Offices
The Cabinet will be
asked to agree
arrangements for
access to services
following relaxation of
Covid restrictions in
line with the Customer
Access Strategy 2019
to 2022.

Not applicable

(D)

Cabinet

Robert Everitt
Families and
Communities
01284 769000

Davina Howes
Director
(Families and
Communities)
01284 757070

Covering report
to Cabinet and
three appendices.

Environment Action
Plan
The Cabinet will
receive an update on
the implementation of
actions arising from
the West Suffolk
Environment and

Not applicable

(D)

Cabinet

John Griffiths
Leader of the
Council
01284 757001

Jill Korwin
Strategic
Director
01284 757252

Report to
Cabinet.

Page 2 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
Climate Change
Taskforce, together
with any other issues
relating to this topic.

Page 79

20/07/21
(new)

21/09/21
(deferred
from

West Suffolk Annual
Report 2020 to 2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider and
approve the West
Suffolk Annual Report
2020 to 2021, which
will previously have
been considered by the
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee.

Not applicable

(D)

Cabinet

John Griffiths
Leader of the
Council
01284 757001

Ian Gallin
Chief Executive
01284 757001

Report to
Cabinet.

West Suffolk Rural
Taskforce –Action
Plan Update
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the

Not applicable

(D)

Cabinet

John Griffiths
Leader of the
Council
01284 757001

Jill Korwin
Strategic
Director
01284 757252

Report to
Cabinet.

Page 3 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet

Andy
Drummond
Regulatory
07710 027343

Jen Eves
Director
(HR, Governance
and Regulatory)
01284 757015

Report to
Cabinet, with
accompanying
consultation
analysis and
background
evidence/data

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
25/05/21)

Page 80

21/09/21
(Deferred
from
27/04/21
or
25/05/21)

final update on
implementation of
actions arising from
the West Suffolk Rural
Taskforce.
Newmarket
Cumulative Impact
Assessment Review
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
approving and
renewing the
Newmarket Cumulative
Impact Assessment
(CIA), which has been
subject to consultation.
This policy was
introduced to manage
the growth of licensed
premises in an area

Not applicable

(KD) (e)(ii)

Fiona Quinn
Service Manager
(Environmental
Health)
01284 757042

Page 4 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)

Report to Cabinet
with exempt
appendices.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 81
21/09/21

where the number,
type and density of
premises selling
alcohol had been
identified as leading to
nuisance and disorder.
The existing policy
requires reviewing to
ensure it complies with
the legislative changes
introduced on 6 April
2018. The Licensing
and Regulatory
Committee will have
been involved with the
consultation process.
Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write Offs
The Cabinet will be

Exempt
appendices:
paragraphs 1
and 2

(KD)

Page 5 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

07929 305787

01638 719245

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 82

21/09/21

asked to consider
writing-off outstanding
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.
Annual Financial
Resilience Report
2020 to 2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the Annual Financial
Resilience Report for
2020 to 2021.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
28/09/21

Cabinet /
Council

Page 6 of 20

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
21/09/21

Page 83
09/11/21

Financial Resilience
Report - June 2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the financial resilience
activities between 1
April 2021 and 30 June
2021.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
28/09/21

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

Council Tax Base for
Tax Setting
Purposes 2022 to
2023
The Cabinet will be
asked to recommend
to Council the basis of

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

Page 7 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 84

09/11/21

the formal calculation
for the Council Tax
Base for West Suffolk
Council for the
financial year 2022 to
2023.
Local Council Tax
Reduction Scheme
2022 to 2023
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
proposals for potential
revisions to the Local
Council Tax Reduction
Scheme prior to
seeking its approval by
Council.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Page 8 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
09/11/21

Page 85
07/12/21

Council Tax
Technical Changes
2022 to 2023
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
proposals for potential
Council Tax technical
changes prior to
seeking its approval by
Council.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

Delivering a
Sustainable Budget
2022 to 2023 and
Medium Term
Financial Strategy
2022 to 2026
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
recommendations of
the Performance and

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

Page 9 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 86
07/12/21

Audit Scrutiny
Committee for
recommending to
Council on proposals
for achieving a
sustainable budget in
2022 to 2023 and in
the medium term.
Financial Resilience
Report – September
2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the Financial Resilience
activities between 1

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Page 10 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
April 2021 and 30
September 2021.
07/12/21

Page 87
11/01/22

Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write Offs
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
writing-off outstanding
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.

Exempt
appendices:
paragraphs 1
and 2

(KD)

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with exempt
appendices.

Applications for
Community Chest
2022 to 2023
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the West Suffolk Grant
Working Party in

Not applicable

(KD);
however,
some
funding
allocations
may be
subject to
the budget

Cabinet

Robert Everitt
Families and
Communities
01284 769000

Davina Howes
Director
(Families and
Communities)
01284 757070

Recommendations of the West
Suffolk Grant
Working Party to
Cabinet.

Page 11 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 88
08/02/22

respect of the levels of
funding (if any) to be
awarded to applicants
to the Community
Chest funding scheme
for 2022 to 2023 and
in some cases, 2023 to
2024.
Delivering a
Sustainable Budget
2022 to 2023 and
Medium Term
Financial Strategy
2022 to 2026
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee for

setting
process.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
22/02/22
Unless
separate
proposals
are
recommended by
Cabinet,
consideration by

Page 12 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 89

08/02/22

recommending to
Council on proposals
for achieving a
sustainable budget in
2022 to 2023 and in
the medium term.
Budget and Council
Tax Setting 2022 to
2023 and Medium
Term Financial
Strategy 2022 to
2026
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
proposals for the 2021
to 2022 budget and
Medium Term Financial
Strategy 2022 to 2026
for West Suffolk
Council, prior to its

Council will
take place as
part of the
separate
budget
setting paper
on 22/02/22
Not applicable

(R) – Council
22/02/22
Unless
separate
proposals
are
recommended by
Cabinet,
consideration by
Council will
take place as

Page 13 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 90

08/02/22

approval by Council.
This report includes
the Minimum Revenues
Provision (MRP) Policy
and Prudential
Indicators.
Financial Resilience
- Strategy Statement
2022 to 2023 and
Treasury
Management Code of
Practice
The Cabinet will be
asked to recommend
to Council, approval of
the Strategy
Statement 2022 to
2023 and Treasury
Management Code of
Practice for West

part of the
separate
budget
setting paper
on 22/02/22

Not applicable

(R) – Council
22/02/22

Page 14 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
Suffolk Council, which
must be undertaken
before the start of
each financial year.

Page 91

08/02/22

Financial Resilience
Report – December
2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the Financial Resilience
activities between 1
April 2021 and 31
December 2021.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
22/02/22

Page 15 of 20

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with exempt
appendices.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
15/03/22

Page 92

Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write Offs
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
writing-off outstanding
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.

Exempt
appendices:
paragraphs 1
and 2

(KD)

Page 16 of 20

Note 1: Definition of exempt information and relevant paragraphs of the Local Government Act 1972
In accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
The public may be excluded from all or part of the meeting during the consideration of items of business on the grounds that it
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information defined in Schedule 12(A) of the Act, as follows:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Page 93

5.
6.
7.

Information relating to any individual.
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information).
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with
any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under,
the authority.
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.
Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
a.
to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
b.
to make an order or direction under any enactment.
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of
crime.

In accordance with Section 100A(3) (a) and (b) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
Confidential information is also not for public access, but the difference between this and exempt information is that a Government
department, legal opinion or the court has prohibited its disclosure in the public domain. Should confidential information require
consideration in private, this will be detailed in this Decisions Plan.

Page 17 of 20

Note 2:

Key decision definition

A key decision is an executive decision that either:
a. Results in new expenditure, or a reduced income or savings of more than £100k in any one year that has not otherwise
been included in the Council’s revenue or capital budgets.
b. Comprises or includes the making, approval or publication of a draft or final scheme, which is not a routine business
decision, that may require, either directly or in the event of objections, the approval of a Minister of the Crown.
c. Results in the formation of a new company, limited liability partnership or joint venture.
d. Has a potentially detrimental impact on communities outside of West Suffolk District.

Page 94

e. Is a decision that is significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in a definable local community in the
District, or on one or more wards, in that it will:
i. Have a long-term, lasting impact on that community; or
ii. Restrict the ability of individual businesses or residents in that area to undertake particular activities; or
iii. Removes the provision of a service or facility for that community; or
iv. Increases the charges payable by members of the community to provide a service or facility by more than 5%; or
v. Have the potential to create significant local controversy or reputational damage to the Council
f. A matter that the decision maker considers to be a key decision.
g. Any matters that fall under the scope of e. above must be subject to consultation with the local Member(s) in Wards that
are likely to be impacted by the decision prior to the decision being made.

Page 18 of 20

Note 3: Membership of bodies making key decisions
a.

Membership of West Suffolk Council’s Cabinet and their portfolios
Cabinet Member
John Griffiths
Sara Mildmay-White
Sarah Broughton
Carol Bull
Andy Drummond
Robert Everitt
Susan Glossop
Jo Rayner

Page 95

David Roach
Peter Stevens

Portfolio
Leader of the Council
Deputy Leader of the Council and Housing
Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Performance
Portfolio Holder for Governance
Portfolio Holder for Regulatory
Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities
Portfolio Holder for Growth
Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Culture and
Community Hubs
Portfolio Holder for Local Plan Development
and Delivery
Portfolio Holder for Operations

Page 19 of 20

b.

Membership of the Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee (made up of Breckland Council, East
Cambridgeshire District Council, East Suffolk Council, Fenland District Council and West Suffolk Council)
Member Council
Breckland
East Cambridgeshire
East Suffolk
Fenland
West Suffolk

Full representative
Philip Cowen
David Ambrose-Smith
Steve Gallant
Jan French
Sarah Broughton

Page 96
Jennifer Eves
Director (Human Resources, Governance and Regulatory)
Date: 28 May 2021

Page 20 of 20

Substitute representative
Sam Chapman-Allen and Paul Claussen
David Brown and Joshua Schumann
To be confirmed
David Connor and Kim French
Sara Mildmay-White

